

Testing gravity with gravitational waves x electromagnetic probes cross-correlations

Scelfo, G.; Berti, M.; Silvestri, A.; Viel, M.

Citation

Scelfo, G., Berti, M., Silvestri, A., & Viel, M. (2023). Testing gravity with gravitational waves x electromagnetic probes cross-correlations. *Journal Of Cosmology And Astroparticle Physics*, *2023*(2). doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2023/02/010

Version:Publisher's VersionLicense:Licensed under Article 25fa Copyright Act/Law (Amendment Taverne)Downloaded from:https://hdl.handle.net/1887/3718667

Note: To cite this publication please use the final published version (if applicable).



Testing gravity with gravitational waves × electromagnetic probes cross-correlations

To cite this article: Giulio Scelfo et al JCAP02(2023)010

View the article online for updates and enhancements.



You may also like

- Employment of nanodiamond photocathodes on MPGD-based HEP detector at the future EIC F M Brunbauer, C Chatterjee, G Cicala et al.
- Development and tests of a new prototype detector for the XAFS beamline at Elettra Synchrotron in Trieste S Fabiani, M Ahangarianabhari, G Baldazzi et al.
- Optimization of pixel size and propagation distance in X-ray phase-contrast virtual <u>histology</u> S. Donato, L.M. Arana Peña, D. Bonazza

et al.

Testing gravity with gravitational waves \times electromagnetic probes cross-correlations

Giulio Scelfo,^{*a,b,c*} Maria Berti,^{*a,b,c*} Alessandra Silvestri^{*e*} and Matteo Viel^{a,b,c,d} ^aSISSA, Via Bonomea 265, Trieste 34136, Italy ^bINFN, Sezione di Trieste, Via Bonomea 265, Trieste 34136, Italy ^cIFPU, Institute for Fundamental Physics of the Universe, via Beirut 2, Trieste 34151, Italy ^dINAF/OATS, Osservatorio Astronomico di Trieste, via Tiepolo 11, Trieste 34143, Italy ^eInstitute Lorentz, Leiden University, P.O. Box 9506, Leiden 2300 RA, The Netherlands E-mail: giulio.scelfo@sissa.it, mberti@sissa.it, silvestri@lorentz.leidenuniv.nl, viel@sissa.it Received October 9, 2022 Revised November 28, 2022 Accepted January 6, 2023 Published February 3, 2023

Abstract. In a General Relativistic framework, Gravitational Waves (GW) and Electromagnetic (EM) waves are expected to respond in the same way to the effects of matter perturbations between the emitter and the observer. A different behaviour might be a signature of alternative theories of gravity. In this work we study the cross-correlation of resolved GW events (from compact objects mergers detected by the Einstein Telescope, either assuming or excluding the detection of an EM counterpart) and EM signals (coming both from the Intensity Mapping of the neutral hydrogen distribution and resolved galaxies from the SKA Observatory), considering weak lensing, angular clustering and their cross term $(L \times C)$ as observable probes. Cross-correlations of these effects are expected to provide promising information on the behaviour of these two observables, hopefully shedding light on beyond GR signatures. We perform a Fisher matrix analysis with the aim of constraining the $\{\mu_0, \eta_0, \Sigma_0\}$ parameters, either opening or keeping fixed the background parameters $\{w_0, w_a\}$. We find that, although lensing-only forecasts provide significantly unconstrained results, the combination with angular clustering and the cross-correlation of all three considered tracers (GW, IM, resolved galaxies) leads to interesting and competitive constraints. This offers a novel and alternative path to both multi-tracing opportunities for Cosmology and the Modified Gravity sector.

Keywords: gravitational waves / experiments, modified gravity, weak gravitational lensing **ArXiv ePrint:** 2210.02460

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Methodology	2
	2.1 Observables: angular power spectra (in Λ CDM)	3
	2.2 Fisher analysis	5
3	Tracers	6
	3.1 Gravitational waves	6
	3.2 Neutral hydrogen intensity mapping	8
	3.3 Galaxies	10
4	Tested models	10
	4.1 Phenomenological parametrizations	10
	4.2 Angular power spectra (in MG) and MG parameters	14
5	Forecasts	15
	5.1 Results	16
6	Conclusions	22
\mathbf{A}	Constraints on $\{\mu_0, \eta_0\}$: plots	23

1 Introduction

Nowadays we can probe the Universe by means of different sorts of observables and through a large set of working or planned experiments. The newest window is given by Gravitational Waves (GWs), leading to the birth of the so-called Gravitational Waves Astronomy after the first detection of a Binary Black Hole merger by the LIGO/Virgo scientific collaboration [1, 2] and anticipating a plethora of new detections [3, 4]. All together with forthcoming experiments (such as the Einstein Telescope (ET) [5], Cosmic Explorer [6], LISA [7], KAGRA [8], and LIGO-India [9]), investigation of the Universe through this observation window is just at its promising beginning.

Another innovative technique is constituted by the Line Intensity Mapping (LIM, or simply IM), i.e., the measurement of the integrated emission from spectral lines from unresolved galaxies and diffuse intergalactic medium (see e.g., references [10, 11] for comprehensive reviews). IM surveys aim at scanning large portions of the sky in a relatively small amount of time by measuring the intensity of a chosen emission line instead of resolving single galaxies. The result is a map of the underlying matter distribution, whose redshift information is finely accurate, thanks to the fact that the emission frequency of the line is known precisely. On the other hand, brightness temperature fluctuations reflect the distribution of underlying Large Scale Structure (LSS), as brighter signals are associated with denser regions. One of the most popular lines under study is the so-called 21 cm, emitted from the spin-flip transition of neutral hydrogen (HI), often studied in cross-correlation with galaxy surveys (see e.g. [12-16]). HI IM surveys are active or planned through experiments like MeerKAT [17, 18], CHIME [19], FAST [20], BINGO [21], Tianlai [22], and HIRAX [23]. Particular interest is associated with the Square Kilometre Array Observatory (SKAO) [24] due to the expected cosmological constraints it should bring [25–27].

Finally, we can find in (resolved) galaxy surveys another not novel but very powerful observation window with past, present and planned surveys/instruments shedding light on both Astrophysics and Cosmology (e.g., Euclid [28], EMU [29], DESI [30], SKAO [24], Vera Rubin Observatory (LSST) [31], JWST [32], SPHEREX [33], WFIRST [34], and several others).

All these experiments, targeting different observables, are producing a large amount of data, which will become more abundant with forthcoming experiments in the relatively near future. Given this variety, it is reasonable to explore the scientific opportunities that can arise from combining together different data-sets, i.e., studying the cross-correlation of different tracers of the underlying LSS. Indeed, in several published works cross-correlations between the LSS and the Cosmic Microwave Background (e.g. [35–44]), neutrinos (e.g. [45]), different LSS tracers (e.g. [46–49]), IM (e.g. [50, 51, 51–61]) or GWs (e.g. [62–78]) have been studied.

In this work, we explore the cross-correlation between GW events from resolved Compact Objects (CO) mergers and electromagnetic (EM) signals coming from luminous tracers, such as the IM of the 21 cm line and resolved galaxies. We consider the ET instrument for the first observable, and SKAO for the latter ones. We exploit these different probes with the aim of testing the possibility of gravity theories alternative to General Relativity (GR). Indeed, once a GW or an EM signal is emitted from a source, cosmic structures between the origin and the observer interfere through distortion effects under the form of magnifications (or de-magnifications). In a standard GR framework, these effects are expected to act in the same way on GW and EM waves, whereas different imprints may be a signal of deviations from GR, indicating the need for Modified Gravity (MG) theories. Consequently, cross-correlations between these distortion effects on these probes should highlight potential MG behaviours and help set constraints on related physical parameters. Thus, our main observable is the lensing power spectrum (both in auto and cross-tracers correlations). Subsequently, we also combine it with data from angular clustering power spectra, in order to test the improvement brought by the merger of different observational probes. This avenue of cross-correlating GW and EM signals to test gravity was already explored in the literature (see e.g., references [73, 74, 79, 80]). We expand on previous works by considering a larger variety of tracers (GWs, resolved galaxies and IM, eventually simultaneously) and different probes combinations (lensing, angular clustering and their cross-correlation).

This manuscript is structured as follows: in section 2 we describe our methodology, presenting the treated probes (weak lensing, angular clustering, and their cross-term) in section 2.1 and the adopted Fisher analysis formalism in section 2.2; in section 3 we introduce and characterize the considered tracers (GWs, IM and resolved galaxies); in section 4 we introduce the tested MG parametrization; in section 5 we present our forecasts on the relevant MG parameters and in section 6 we draw our conclusions.

2 Methodology

In this section we describe the observables considered and the adopted methodology. In section 2.1 we characterize our observables: the angular power spectra for weak lensing and

angular clustering (and their cross term). In section 2.2 we describe the Fisher formalism on which we rely.

2.1 Observables: angular power spectra (in Λ CDM)

The observables we consider are the angular power spectra C_{ℓ} s for two different probes: weak lensing (denoted as L) and angular clustering (denoted as C), with the addition of the cross-term (L × C). Given two tracers {X,Y} (e.g., GW events, galaxies, IM) associated to two different redshift bins $\{z_i, z_j\}$, we define the power spectra of their cross-correlation as $C_{\Gamma\Theta}^{X_i,Y_j}(\ell)$, with Γ, Θ indicating the considered probe (e.g., L or C). We make use of the flat-sky and Limber approximations, which are accurate at 10% for $\ell = 4$, 1% for $\ell = 14$, and less than 0.1% for $\ell > 45$ [81]. In the following, we characterize the power spectra for the considered probes.

• Weak lensing (L). The characterization and physical meaning of this observable depends on the tracer that we take into account. For what concerns resolved galaxies, it describes the physical effect of distortion of their shape due to the inhomogeneous distribution of matter between the objects and the observer. It is often referred to as *cosmic shear* (see e.g., [82, 83]). It is given by the sum of three different terms: the proper cosmological signal ($\gamma\gamma$ term) and the two intrinsic alignment terms (γ I and II terms). The latter ones consider that observed galaxies are usually already characterized by an intrinsic ellipticity, which should be taken into account when estimating the shear due to weak lensing only. The three terms can be written as (see e.g., [84]):

$$C_{\gamma\gamma}^{\mathbf{X}_{i}\mathbf{Y}_{j}}(\ell) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dz \ c}{H(z)} \ \frac{W_{\gamma}^{\mathbf{X}_{i}}(z) \ W_{\gamma}^{\mathbf{Y}_{j}}(z)}{\chi^{2}(z)} \ P_{\mathrm{mm}}\left(\frac{\ell}{\chi(z)}, z\right)$$
(2.1)

$$C_{\gamma I}^{X_{i}Y_{j}}(\ell) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dz \ c}{H(z)} \ \frac{W_{\gamma}^{X_{i}}(z) \ W_{IA}^{Y_{j}}(z) + W_{IA}^{X_{i}}(z) \ W_{\gamma}^{Y_{j}}(z)}{\chi^{2}(z)}$$
$$\times \mathcal{F}_{IA}(z) \ P_{mm}\left(\frac{\ell}{\chi(z)}, z\right)$$
(2.2)

$$C_{\rm II}^{\rm X_i Y_j}(\ell) = \int_0^\infty \frac{dz \ c}{H(z)} \ \frac{W_{\rm IA}^{\rm X_i}(z) \ W_{\rm IA}^{\rm Y_j}(z)}{\chi^2(z)} \ \mathcal{F}_{\rm IA}^2(z) \ P_{\rm mm}\left(\frac{\ell}{\chi(z)}, z\right), \tag{2.3}$$

where c is the speed of light, H(z) is the Hubble parameter, $\chi(z)$ is the comoving distance, $P_{\rm mm}$ is the matter power spectrum and the window functions are given by:

$$W_{\gamma}^{X_{i}}(z) = \frac{3}{2} \Omega_{m} \ \frac{H_{0}^{2}}{c^{2}} \chi(z)(1+z) \int_{z}^{\infty} dx \ n_{X_{i}}(x) \ \frac{\chi(x) - \chi(z)}{\chi(x)}$$
(2.4)

$$W_{\rm IA}^{\rm X_i}(z) = n_{\rm X_i}(z) \ \frac{H(z)}{c},$$
 (2.5)

where n_{X_i} is the redshift distribution of the considered tracer and the intrinsic alignment kernel \mathcal{F}_{IA} is modeled through the extended non-linear alignment model:

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{IA}}(z) = -\frac{A_{\mathrm{IA}}\mathcal{C}_{1}\Omega_{\mathrm{m}}}{D_{1}(z)}(1+z)^{\eta_{\mathrm{IA}}} \left(\frac{\langle L\rangle(z)}{L_{*}(z)}\right)^{\beta_{\mathrm{IA}}},\tag{2.6}$$

with $C_1 = 0.0134$, $D_1(z)$ is the linear growth factor and the intrinsic alignment parameters have fiducial values $\{A_{\text{IA}}, \eta_{\text{IA}}, \beta_{\text{IA}}\} = \{1.72, -0.41, 2.17\}$. Finally, $\frac{\langle L \rangle(z)}{L_*(z)}$ is the mean luminosity of the sample in units of the typical luminosity at a given redshift. Here, we use the same specification used for Euclid [85], both for ease of comparison with similar studies and also under the assumption that the galaxies observed by SKAO will display a similar redshift evolution of their luminosity. However, we note that this assumption must be explicitly checked, by performing an analysis on actual observations, as in reference [86].

Equations (2.1)-(2.3) can be summed up to give the lensing power spectrum

$$C_{\rm LL}^{\rm X_i Y_j}(\ell) = \int_0^\infty \frac{dz \ c}{H(z)} \ \frac{W_{\rm L}^{\rm X_i}(z) \ W_{\rm L}^{\rm Y_j}(z)}{\chi^2(z)} \ P_{\rm mm}\left(\frac{\ell}{\chi(z)}, z\right), \tag{2.7}$$

where

$$W_{\rm L}^{\rm X_i}(z) = W_{\gamma}^{\rm X_i}(z) + \mathcal{F}_{\rm IA}(z) \ W_{\rm IA}^{\rm X_i}(k,z).$$
 (2.8)

In the case of GW events we do not have an intrinsic shape that undergoes cosmic shear, so the intrinsic alignment term is not present. Indeed, in this case, the propagation of the gravitational wave in the presence of a matter distribution leads to magnification in the strain signal h(f):

$$h(f) = \mathcal{Q}(\alpha) \sqrt{\frac{5}{24}} \frac{G^{5/6} \mathcal{M}^2 (f \mathcal{M})^{-7/6}}{c^{3/2} \pi^{2/3} d_L} e^{i\phi}, \qquad (2.9)$$

where f is the frequency, $\mathcal{Q}(\alpha)$ is a function of the angles describing the position and orientation of the binary, \mathcal{M} is the chirp mass of the binary system, d_L is the luminosity distance of the source and G is the gravitational constant. What one can measure is an alteration in the measured GW strain $\tilde{h}(\hat{r}, f) = h(f)[1 + \kappa(\hat{r})]$, where \hat{r} describes the position of the source and $\kappa(\hat{r})$ is the lensing convergence, related to the angular power spectra as $C_{\text{LL}}(\ell) = \langle \kappa_{\ell m} \kappa_{\ell' m'} \rangle \delta_{\ell \ell'} \delta_{mm'}$. We refer the interested reader to e.g., references [44, 70, 73, 87–92] for further details.

Finally, although IM (by definition) is a probe that does not provide resolved galaxies, we can still describe the effects of weak lensing as a magnification received by the observer (see e.g., references [93, 94] for additional details). As one would expect, also in this case the IA term is not present ($\mathcal{F}_{IA}^{IM}(z) = 0$).

• Angular clustering (C). Our tracers can also be used to estimate the clustering as a function of the separation angle (or equivalently the multipoles):

$$C_{\rm CC}^{\rm X_i Y_j}(\ell) = \int_0^\infty \frac{dz \ c}{H(z)} \ \frac{W_{\rm C}^{\rm X_i}\left(\frac{\ell}{\chi(z)}, z\right) \ W_{\rm C}^{\rm Y_j}\left(\frac{\ell}{\chi(z)}, z\right)}{\chi^2(z)} \ P_{\rm mm}\left(\frac{\ell}{\chi(z)}, z\right), \tag{2.10}$$

where the window function for clustering is given by

$$W_{\rm C}^{\rm X_i}(k,z) = b_{\rm X}(k,z) \ n_{\rm X_i}(z) \frac{H(z)}{c}$$
 (2.11)

and $b_{\rm X}(k,z)$ is the bias parameter for tracer X, describing the relation between the tracer and the underlying matter distribution (see e.g., [95–102]).

We apply this formalism to all tracers considered in this work.

• Lensing \times Clustering (L \times C). Finally, the cross-correlation L \times C between weak lensing and angular clustering of two tracers can be expressed as

$$C_{\rm CL}^{\rm X_i Y_j}(\ell) = \int_0^\infty \frac{dz \ c}{H(z)} \ \frac{W_{\rm C}^{\rm X_i}\left(\frac{\ell}{\chi(z)}, z\right) \ W_{\rm L}^{\rm Y_j}(z)}{\chi^2(z)} \ P_{\rm mm}\left(\frac{\ell}{\chi(z)}, z\right).$$
(2.12)

Essentially, it is given by the combination of a Lensing window function with a Clustering one.

2.2 Fisher analysis

In this work, we make use of the Fisher matrix analysis, which we briefly sketch in this section. Assuming again two tracers $\{X, Y\}$ (e.g., GW events, galaxies, IM), we divide the total redshift interval surveyed in N_{bins}^{X} bins, with amplitude Δz^{X} for tracer X, and in N_{bins}^{Y} redshift bins with amplitude Δz^{Y} for tracer Y.

Considering the observed power spectra \tilde{C}_{ℓ} s for a specific probe (L only, C only or $L \times C$, which we do not explicitate throughout this section) and a generic set of parameters $\{\theta_n\}$ for the Fisher analysis, we can organize our data in the (symmetric) matrix C_{ℓ} as

$$\mathcal{C}_{\ell} = \begin{bmatrix}
\tilde{C}_{\ell}^{XX}(z_{1}^{X}, z_{1}^{X}) \dots \tilde{C}_{\ell}^{XX}(z_{1}^{X}, z_{N}^{X}) \tilde{C}_{\ell}^{XY}(z_{1}^{X}, z_{1}^{Y}) \dots \tilde{C}_{\ell}^{XY}(z_{1}^{X}, z_{N}^{Y}) \\
\dots \tilde{C}_{\ell}^{XX}(z_{2}^{X}, z_{N}^{X}) \tilde{C}_{\ell}^{XY}(z_{2}^{X}, z_{1}^{Y}) \dots \tilde{C}_{\ell}^{XY}(z_{2}^{X}, z_{N}^{Y}) \\
\dots \vdots \vdots \dots \vdots \\
\tilde{C}_{\ell}^{XX}(z_{N}^{X}, z_{N}^{X}) \tilde{C}_{\ell}^{XY}(z_{N}^{X}, z_{1}^{Y}) \dots \tilde{C}_{\ell}^{XY}(z_{N}^{X}, z_{N}^{Y}) \\
\dots \vdots \\
\tilde{C}_{\ell}^{YY}(z_{1}^{Y}, z_{1}^{Y}) \dots \tilde{C}_{\ell}^{YY}(z_{1}^{Y}, z_{N}^{Y}) \\
\dots \vdots \\
\tilde{C}_{\ell}^{YY}(z_{N}^{Y}, z_{N}^{Y})
\end{bmatrix},$$
(2.13)

The matrix C_{ℓ} has dimensions of $(N_{\text{bins}}^{X} + N_{\text{bins}}^{Y}) \times (N_{\text{bins}}^{X} + N_{\text{bins}}^{Y})$. Note that in general $z_{i}^{X} \neq z_{i}^{Y}$, since the two tracers may be distributed among different bins. We stress again that the tilde symbol stands for observed C_{ℓ} s. It is trivial to expand the above matrix to the case in which a third tracer Z is considered at the same time. In this case, the matrix would be accordingly expanded with all XZ, YZ and ZZ correlations and would have dimensions of $(N_{\text{bins}}^{X} + N_{\text{bins}}^{Y} + N_{\text{bins}}^{Z}) \times (N_{\text{bins}}^{X} + N_{\text{bins}}^{Y}) \times (N_{\text{bins}}^{X} + N_{\text{bins}}^{Y})$. The three tracers case is also explored in this work (see sections 3 and 5). Equation (2.13) refers to the case in which just one probe is taken into account (L only, C only, or L × C). When all three probes are considered simultaneously for a forecast, the global C_{ℓ} matrix will be made of 4 different sub-matrices like the one in equation (2.13): one for L only, one for C only, and two for L × C. We provide in figure 1 a sketch of the global C_{ℓ} matrix in the case of all probes and three tracers (GW, IM, gal as described in section 3). Its dimensions are $2(N_{\text{bins}}^{\text{IM}} + N_{\text{bins}}^{\text{GW}} + N_{\text{bins}}^{\text{gal}}) \times 2(N_{\text{bins}}^{\text{IM}} + N_{\text{bins}}^{\text{gal}})$.

The \mathcal{C}_{ℓ} matrix is then used to compute the Fisher matrix elements as

$$F_{\alpha\beta} = f_{\rm sky} \sum_{\ell} \frac{2\ell+1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left[\mathcal{C}_{\ell}^{-1}(\partial_{\alpha}\mathcal{C}_{\ell}) \mathcal{C}_{\ell}^{-1}(\partial_{\beta}\mathcal{C}_{\ell}) \right], \qquad (2.14)$$

where ∂_{α} indicates the partial derivative with respect to the parameter θ_{α} and $f_{\rm sky}$ is the fraction of the sky covered by the intersection of the considered surveys. The Fisher-estimated marginal error on the parameter θ_{α} is given by $\sqrt{(F^{-1})_{\alpha\alpha}}$. According to the Cramér-Rao bound, the quantity $\sqrt{(F^{-1})_{\alpha\alpha}}$ provides the smallest expectable error for a "real-life" experiment, setting a lower bound to its estimate (and having the equality only in the case of gaussian likelihood and errors). Fisher approach may not always be the most accurate method to adopt since instrumental/observational systematic errors and/or the parameter posterior may not be gaussianly distributed. Still, it remains a simple and fast method to yield forecasts for designed experiments, providing reasonable results, especially for a first



Figure 1. Sketch for the C_{ℓ} matrix in the case of all probes (L only, C only, and L × C) and three tracers (GW, IM, gal) considered simultaneously.

estimate. The novelty of this work allows us to adopt a Fisher formalism while considering its estimates informative enough to bring meaningful and reliable conclusions, although different techniques (such as Markov-Chain Monte-Carlo [103]) may be suggested for further investigation. We refer the interested reader to references [104, 105] for further discussion about Fisher analysis and the impact of several approximations therein and in the observables considered.

3 Tracers

In this section, we characterize the considered tracers. In table 1 we summarize their redshift dependent specifics (binning, redshift range, etc.).

3.1 Gravitational waves

We consider GW events from compact objects resolved mergers (BHBH, BHNS, and NSNS) detected by the Einstein Telescope (ET) experiment, as planned in [5]. We treat two categories of GW events, depending on whether they can be associated with an EM counterpart:

• Dark sirens: they are not accompanied by an EM follow-up. We treat BHBH and BHNS mergers as dark sirens and consider $N_{\rm bins}^{\rm GW^{\rm dark}} = 3$ redshift bins with width $\Delta z^{\rm GW^{\rm dark}} = 1.0$ in the redshift range [0.5–3.5]. We choose large redshift bins to take

Tracer	GW^{bright} (ET)	GW^{dark} (ET) & gal (SKAO)	IM (SKAO)				
z range	[0.5 - 2.5]	[0.5–3.5]					
$\mathbf{N}_{\mathbf{bins}}$	8	3	30				
Δz	0.25	1.0	0.1				

Table 1. Specifics for the considered tracers: redshift range, number of redshift bins N_{bins} and bin width Δz .

into account the poor redshift localization of this kind of sources. Given the lack of an EM counterpart, their angular resolution is limited by the capabilities of the considered GW instrument, which we set to $\ell_{\rm max} = 100$ [5].

Bright sirens: the GW emission is associated with an EM counterpart. This helps not only in improving the angular localization of the emitting source but provides also extra information in the MG context, due to the fact that GWs and EM waves might behave differently depending on the MG model under consideration (see section 4 for further details). We treat NSNS mergers as bright sirens and consider N^{GW^{bright}}_{bins} = 8 redshift bins with width Δz^{GW^{bright}} = 0.25 in the redshift range [0.5–2.5]. This is motivated by the z-uncertainty behaviour for NSNS binaries δz/z ≈ 0.1 z [106], making our choice quite conservative at lower redshifts. Since the detection of an EM follow-up can help in significantly improving the angular localization of the sources, it allows us to push our analysis to a higher ℓ_{max}. We set ℓ_{max} = 300 for bright sirens, which appears to be a conservative estimate for this type of experiments (see e.g. [44, 73, 107]), furthermore allowing us to avoid non-linearities in the power spectra modeling. We comment on the impact of the choice of ℓ_{max} in section 5.

Prescriptions to describe the redshift evolution of the GW tracers and their bias parameter are taken from references [65, 108] and provided in figure 2. These specifics predict a detection of ~ $2.2 \cdot 10^4$ BHBH+BHNS mergers and ~ $1.4 \cdot 10^4$ NSNS mergers in the corresponding redshift intervals (for $T_{\rm obs}^{\rm GW} = 1$ yr and $f_{\rm sky} = 0.5$). The GW events bias is evaluated through an abundance matching technique (see e.g., [109]), linking the luminosity/SFR of each host galaxy to the mass of the hosting dark matter halo, eventually matching the bias of the associated halo to a galaxy with given SFR. Lastly, characterizing COs mergers with the same bias of their host galaxies, the final bias expression is estimated by taking into account which galaxy types give the biggest contribution to the observed merger rate proportionally. For further details on the GW bias estimate procedure we refer the interested reader to [65, 108] and references therein.

Given a theoretical predicted value for the C_{ℓ} s under study (computed with COLIBRI,¹ which we modified to extend it to the multi-tracing case), the observed power spectra \tilde{C}_{ℓ} s are characterized by the presence of extra noise terms: $\tilde{C}_{\ell}^{\text{GW},X}(z_i, z_j) = C_{\ell}^{\text{GW},X}(z_i, z_j) + C_{\ell}^{\text{N,GW}}(z_i)$. In the case of GWs-related power spectra, following e.g. [73], we assume that:

$$C_{\ell}^{\rm N,GW}(z_i) = \frac{1}{n_{\rm GW}} e_{d_L}^2 \exp \frac{\ell^2 \theta_{\rm min}^2}{8 \ln 2},$$
(3.1)

where $n_{\rm GW}$ is the number density of sources in the considered redshift bin z_i , $\theta_{\rm min}$ is the sky localization area of the gravitational wave sources, and $e_{d_L} \sim 3/{\rm SNR}$ is the relative error on the luminosity distance estimation (see e.g. [69, 110]), where the average value of

¹See https://github.com/GabrieleParimbelli/COLIBRI.



Figure 2. Specifics for the considered tracers: HI (green), resolved SKAO galaxies (blue), detected GW events from ET for dark sirens (orange), bright sirens (yellow), and both combined (dark red). Left panel: normalized redshift distributions (number counts for GWs and resolved galaxies, mean brightness temperature $T_b(z)$ for HI). Right panel: biases.

the Signal-to-Noise ratio (SNR) estimate for detected GWs events is derived by results from reference [65] and takes the values of SNR=8.4 (15.4) for bright (dark) sirens. We assume that this shot-noise/beam noise term affects all the probes considered in this work (i.e., L, C, L×C).

3.2 Neutral hydrogen intensity mapping

We consider the forecasted HI distribution given by the SKA-Mid intensity mapping survey [25, 26, 111]. We consider the redshift range [0.5–3.5], divided in bins of width $\Delta z^{\text{IM}} = 0.1$, for a total of $N_{\text{bins}}^{\text{IM}} = 30$ redshift bins. This is expected to be around the optimal redshift range for the SKA-Mid survey [25]. The HI mean brightness temperature redshift evolution and the bias are taken from references [112, 113] and provided in figure 2. The HI bias prescription derives from the outputs of a semi-analytical model for galaxy formation explicitly incorporating a treatment of neutral hydrogen and are in agreement with results of [114] based on Illustris TNG hydro-dynamical simulations.

Noise sources for IM are the result of contributions from different elements, described as follows:

• Beam effects: the relation between theoretical C_{ℓ}^{XY} and the observed \tilde{C}_{ℓ}^{XY} is:

$$\tilde{C}_{\ell}^{\mathrm{IM,IM}}(z_i, z_j) = \mathcal{B}(z_i)\mathcal{B}(z_j)C_{\ell}^{\mathrm{IM,IM}}(z_i, z_j) + C_{\ell}^{\mathrm{N,IM}}$$
(3.2)

and

$$\tilde{C}_{\ell}^{\mathrm{IM},\mathrm{X}}(z_i, z_j) = \mathcal{B}(z_i) C_{\ell}^{\mathrm{IM},\mathrm{X}}(z_i, z_j)$$
(3.3)

where the $\mathcal{B}^X(z_i)$ describes the suppression of the signal at scales smaller than the FWHM of the beam θ_B . In single-dish configuration $\theta_B \sim 1.22\lambda/D_d$, implying a stronger suppression of the signal at lower frequencies:

$$\mathcal{B}(z_i) = \exp[-\ell(\ell+1)(\theta_B(z_i)/\sqrt{16\ln 2})^2].$$
(3.4)

The beam term affects all probes considered $(L, C, L \times C)$.

• Foreground noise: IM data analysis has to deal with the delicate cleaning procedure of the signal from the bright foreground emission (see e.g., references [16, 115–120]). Although modeling the foregrounds is beyond the scope of this work, we need to take into account the residual error that could be expected after a foreground removal procedure. Following reference [72], we model the foreground-cleaning related noise term as

$$C_{\ell}^{\rm fg} = K^{\rm fg} \cdot F(\ell), \tag{3.5}$$

where K^{fg} is an overall normalization constant determining the overall amplitude of the residual foregrounds related errors and is given by an average value of all the $C_{\ell}^{\text{IM,IM}}(z_i, z_j)$ components:

$$K^{\rm fg} = \left\langle C_{\ell}^{\rm IM, IM}(z_i, z_j) \right\rangle. \tag{3.6}$$

The function $F(\ell)$ encodes the scale-dependence, described by

$$F(\ell) = \frac{1}{f_{\rm sky}} A e^{b\ell^c}, \qquad (3.7)$$

with a stronger error at larger scales. With the chosen numerical values ($A \sim 0.129$, $b \sim -0.081$, $c \sim 0.581$) the error is around 12% at $\ell \sim 2$ and 4% at $\ell \sim 100$ (for $f_{\rm sky} = 1.0$). This term affects all probes (L, C, L×C), but only IM × IM terms (for all redshift bins combinations).

• Instrumental noise: the noise angular power spectrum for the experiment setup under study (single dish mode [17, 25] with an ensemble of N_d dishes) writes as (see e.g., [17, 27, 121]):

$$C_{\ell}^{\text{instr}}(z_i) = \sigma_T^2 \theta_B^2 \approx \left(\frac{T_{\text{sys}}}{T_b(z_i)\sqrt{n_{\text{pol}}Bt_{\text{obs}}N_d}} \sqrt{\frac{S_{\text{area}}}{\theta_B^2}} \frac{1}{T_b(z_i)}\right)^2 \theta_B^2, \tag{3.8}$$

where the single-dish r.m.s. noise temperature σ_T is given by

$$\sigma_T \approx \frac{T_{\rm sys}}{\sqrt{n_{\rm pol}Bt_{\rm obs}}} \frac{\lambda^2}{\theta_B^2 A_e} \sqrt{S_{\rm area}/\theta_B^2} \sqrt{\frac{1}{N_{\rm d}}}$$
(3.9)

and the other parameters involved are (according to SKA-Mid prescriptions): $T_{\rm sys} = 28 \,\mathrm{K}$ for the system temperature, $B = 20 \cdot 10^6 \,\mathrm{Hz}$ for the bandwidth, $t_0 = 5000 \,\mathrm{h} = 1.8 \cdot 10^7 \,\mathrm{s}$ for the observation time, $N_d = 254$ for the total number of dishes, $S_{\rm area} = 20000 \,\mathrm{deg}^2$ for the total surveyed area, $A_e = 140 \,\mathrm{m}^2$, $D_d = 15 \,\mathrm{m}$ and $S_{\rm area} = 20000 \,\mathrm{deg}^2 \sim f_{\rm sky} = 0.5$ for the reference sky coverage [27]. $T_b(z_i)$ is the mean brightness temperature at the center of the redshift bin and it acts as a normalization factor to retrieve a dimensionless C_ℓ . This noise component affects all the probes considered in this work (L, C, L×C) but it is de-correlated among different bins, affecting only IM auto-correlations.

• Lensing reconstruction error: references such as [93, 94] model an extra scale independent noise contribution, due to inaccuracies in the reconstruction of the signal. Since it should affect scales smaller than our $\ell = \mathcal{O}(100)$ cut-off, we opt for not taking it into account. For sake of completeness, we checked that artificially introducing a noise term overcoming the observed signal at around 2/3 of the explored angular range, would worsen our forecasts by ~ 15–20% or less. Still, let us stress again that the actual scales at which this noise is supposed to dominate start from around $\ell \sim \mathcal{O}(100)$, safely allowing us to neglect this term.

3.3 Galaxies

We consider SKAO radio-galaxies distributed following the T-RECS catalog [122] for SKAO (radio continuum survey with $5\mu JY$ detection threshold for z < 5). We consider $N_{\rm bins}^{\rm g} = 3$ redshift bins with width $\Delta z^{\rm g} = 1.0$ in the redshift range [0.5–3.5]. Their redshift distribution and bias are provided in figure 2 (see e.g., reference [64] for further details). The galaxy bias formulation relies on outputs from the S^3 simulation [123]. We model noise sources for SKAO radio galaxies as follows:

• Shot noise: the shot noise term affects only the Clustering probe and reads as

$$C_{\ell}^{\mathrm{N,g}} = C_{\ell}^{\mathrm{shot,g}} = \frac{1}{n_g},\tag{3.10}$$

where n_g is the source number density in the considered redshift bin. This term affects only $g(z_i) \times g(z_i)$ terms (same tracer and same z bin).

• Shape noise: this term affects only the Lensing probe and it encodes the intrinsic ellipticity of observed galaxies, which may bias results if not taken into account. It reads as

$$C_{\ell}^{\rm N,g} = C_{\ell}^{\rm shape,g} = \frac{\gamma^2}{n_q} \tag{3.11}$$

where $\gamma = 0.3$ is the intrinsic shear term [124]. This term affects only $g(z_i) \times g(z_i)$ terms (same tracer and same z bin).

• Shot \times shape noise: being the $L \times C$ probe term made of the contribution of both Lensing and Clustering, we model its noise contribution as a mixture of the shot and shape noises affecting Clustering and Lensing respectively. It reads as

$$C_{\ell}^{\text{N,g}} = \sqrt{(C_{\ell}^{\text{shot,g}})^2 + (C_{\ell}^{\text{shape,g}})^2} = \frac{\sqrt{1+\gamma^2}}{n_g}.$$
 (3.12)

4 Tested models

Future GWs observations are expected to contribute significantly to probing gravity [125]. Forecasts on the cross-correlation of the GWs signal with other probes suggest that the multimessenger approach could be a powerful tool to exploit GWs observations to constrain models beyond Λ CDM [44, 73, 107]. The GWs luminosity distance, for bright events, could provide a new probe to test gravity. In this work we discuss if future GWs observations combined with LSS probes could add new information on MG theories. We parametrize the effects of MG in a phenomenological way by adopting a general prescription suited to probe small departures from GR. In this section, we give a brief overview of the formalism we adopt and the models we investigate.

4.1 Phenomenological parametrizations

Starting from the LSS sector, we focus on scalar perturbations to the metric in the conformal Newtonian gauges, with the line element given by

$$ds^{2} = a^{2} \left[-(1+2\Psi)d\tau^{2} + (1-2\Phi)dx^{2} \right], \qquad (4.1)$$

where a is the scale factor, τ is the conformal time, and the time and scale-dependent functions Ψ and Φ describe the scalar perturbations of the metric: the Newtonian potential and spatial curvature inhomogeneities, respectively. Modifications of gravity impact the growth of structure and the evolution of the gravitational potentials, see e.g. [127, 128]. Interestingly, these effects, on linear scales, can be fully captured by two functions of time and scale, e.g. [129–133]

$$k^2 \Psi \equiv -4\pi G a^2 \mu(k, z) \rho \Delta \,, \tag{4.2}$$

and

$$\Phi/\Psi \equiv \eta(k, z) \,, \tag{4.3}$$

where $\rho\Delta = \rho_{\rm m}\Delta_{\rm m} + \rho_{\rm r}\Delta_{\rm r}$, i.e., the sum of the matter (m) and radiation (r) contributions. One can also define the function $\Sigma(k, z)$, that quantifies modifications to the lensing potential, as

$$k^{2}(\Phi + \Psi) \equiv -8\pi G a^{2} \Sigma(k, z) \rho \Delta.$$
(4.4)

The three phenomenological functions $\mu(k, z)$, $\eta(k, z)$ and $\Sigma(k, z)$ are not independent. One should consider two of them at the time, e.g., the pair (μ, η) or (μ, Σ) . It is possible to express $\Sigma(k, z)$ as a function of $\mu(k, z)$ and $\eta(k, z)$ as

$$\Sigma(k,z) = \frac{\mu(k,z)}{2} (1 + \eta(k,z)).$$
(4.5)

Deviations from Λ CDM are encoded in $(\mu(k, z), \eta(k, z))$ or $(\mu(k, z), \Sigma(k, z))$, with the Λ CDM case corresponding to $\mu(k, z) = 1$, $\eta(k, z) = 1$, $\Sigma(k, z) = 1$. To give a more intuitive interpretation of the physical meaning of the involved quantities, let us specify that the Σ function acts on relativistic particles, affecting mainly the lensing observable, whereas μ controls gravity effects on massive particles, controlling the growth of matter perturbations and affecting clustering. Finally, η , usually referred to as the gravitational slip parameter, cannot be directly connected to a constraining observable as the previous two functions. However, given that it quantifies differences between the two gravitational potential, its behaviour may be indicative of a breaking of the equivalence principle.

Several parametrizations of the phenomenological functions have been explored and constrained, see e.g. [134] for a review on recent results. In this work, we follow the approach of the Planck 2015 paper on dark energy and modified gravity [135]. We choose a time-dependent only parametrization for the evolution of $\mu(k, z)$ and $\eta(k, z)$, the so-called late-time parametrization

$$\mu(z) = 1 + E_{11}\Omega_{\rm DE}(z)$$

$$\eta(z) = 1 + E_{22}\Omega_{\rm DE}(z).$$
(4.6)

The evolution is set by the value of the parameters E_{11} and E_{22} , while the background is kept fixed. This choice of parametrization simplifies the analysis and allows a direct comparison with the results of [135]. But there are also good reasons for not expecting any scale-dependence of the model to show up within the range of scales covered by the data that we consider. In fact, in order to satisfy local tests of gravity, these theories need to have a working screening mechanism, which suppresses any deviation from GR through environmental effects. Well known examples are the Chameleon and Vainshtein mechanism, see e.g. [136]. In both cases, the requirements for a successful screening effectively pushes the characteristic length scale of the model either into the small, non-linear scales (Chameleon case) or to very large, horizon-size scales (Vainshtein case). Let us point out that even while

Parameter	$\ln 10^{10} A_s$	n_s	w_0	w_a	E_{11}	E_{22}
Fiducial value	3.098	0.9619	-1.00	0.00	0.18	0.80

Table 2. Assumed fiducial cosmology [126]. MG parameters are from Planck 2018 TT, TE, EE + lowE. Fiducial values for the E_{ii} parameters lead to fiducial values on $\{\mu_0, \eta_0, \Sigma_0\} = \{1.12, 1.55, 1.43\}$.

not working with a specific model, there are some assumptions that we make at the basis of our choice of parametrization. One such assumption is that modifications of gravity are relevant at late times; in this sense, we are linking them possibly to the source of cosmic acceleration, but more broadly to tests of gravity with large scale structure. Or, said in other words, we aim for this parametrization to broadly represent Horndeski models of gravity with luminal speed of sound, which is the theoretical framework on which our analysis is built.

We consider both the $(\mu(z), \eta(z))$ and the $(\mu(z), \Sigma(z))$ pair. In the latter case, $\Sigma(z)$ as a function of E_{11} and E_{22} is computed using equation (4.5). When performing the Fisher analysis, we vary E_{11} and E_{22} and derive the predicted constraints on the parameters (μ_0, η_0) and (μ_0, Σ_0) , where $\mu_0 \equiv \mu(z=0), \eta_0 \equiv \eta(z=0), \Sigma_0 \equiv \Sigma(z=0)$.

We compute the theoretical matter power spectrum with the code MGCAMB² [132, 137, 138], the modified version of the Einstein-Boltzmann solver CAMB³ [139], extended to study modified gravity models within the phenomenological parametrization framework. In figure 3, we show the linear matter spectrum for the assumed fiducial cosmology (see table 2) and for different values of the MG parameters (μ_0 , η_0) and (μ_0 , Σ_0). This is the power spectrum used to compute the C_{ℓ} s introduced in section 2.1. We observe that the most significant modifications occur at large scales. Varying the parameters η_0 or Σ_0 affects only the larger scales, while μ_0 has an impact on smaller scales too. The modifications become milder at higher redshifts, according to how the parametrization we chose performs.

The late-time parametrization has been studied in the literature in several contexts [126, 135, 140–143] and current data sets do not show a significant preference for models beyond Λ CDM. Recently, a non-parametric Bayesian reconstruction of μ , Σ , along with the dark energy density, from all available LSS and CMB data was performed in [144, 145]; while the outcome is consistent with Λ CDM within 2σ , some interesting features in Σ were identified as an imprint of cosmological tensions.

The phenomenological functions μ , Σ and η parametrize modifications of the dynamics of perturbations within the scalar sector. When including GWs, one should consider that tensor perturbations are generally also affected by modifications of gravity. For the observables of interest in this work, the effects of modified gravity on GWs propagating on the FLRW background, can be encoded in the difference between the electromagnetic luminosity distance $d_{\rm L}^{\rm EM}(z)$ and the GW one $d_{\rm L}^{\rm GW}(z)$. The phenomenological function $\Xi(z)$, defined as

$$\Xi(z) \equiv \frac{d_{\rm L}^{\rm GW}(z)}{d_{\rm L}^{\rm EM}(z)},\tag{4.7}$$

quantifies the effect for bright sirens. The EM luminosity distance can be expressed as $d_{\rm L}^{\rm EM}(z) = \sqrt{L/4\pi S}$, where L and S are the bolometric luminosity and the bolometric flux for the observed object, respectively. This quantity can also be expressed as a function of the comoving distance χ as (for $\Omega_k = 0$): $d_{\rm L}^{\rm EM}(z) = (1+z)\chi = (1+z)d_H \int_0^z dz'/E(z')$,

²See https://github.com/sfu-cosmo/MGCAMB.

³See https://camb.info/.



JCAP02(2023)010

Figure 3. Upper panels: predicted matter power spectrum for different values of the MG parameters at redshifts $z = \{0.5, 1.5, 2.5, 3.5\}$. We show $P_{\rm m}(k, z)$ for the assumed fiducial cosmology (solid black lines, see table 2) and for variations of μ_0 (dashed light blue lines), η_0 (dashed-dotted pink lines) and Σ_0 (dotted green lines). When varying Σ_0 , we keep μ_0 fixed. Lower panels: percentage variations with respect to the fiducial cosmology.

with $E(z) = \sqrt{\Omega_m (1+z)^3 + \Omega_k (1+z)^2 + \Omega_\Lambda}$ and $d_H = c/H_0$. The GW luminosity distance $d_{\rm L}^{\rm GW}(z)$ is estimated in a way not dependent on a distance ladder, and relies on the extraction of information enclosed in the GW waveform such as the strain and the frequency. A univocal analytic expression for the $d_{\rm L}^{\rm GW}(z)$ is non trivial to obtain, as it is also highly dependent on the assumed gravity model. In [125], the authors performed an extensive study of Ξ both in terms

of parametrizations and of specific form it takes in given models of MG. In the latter case, Ξ is in general related to operators of the Lagrangian that affect also scalar perturbations; for instance, in Horndeski gravity it is a function of the non-minimal coupling, which is a key contributor to μ and Σ as well. Therefore, in a theoretical embedding, Ξ is not completely independent of μ and Σ .

The expressions we used for GW lensing in the auto- and cross-correlation rely on calculations of the relativistic corrections to the luminosity distance of GW in Horndeski and DHOST theories with the speed of sound $c_T^2 = 1$ [146]. In this case, it is not straightforward to find an explicit expression for $\Xi(z)$ in terms of μ , Σ and/or η which is valid on all linear scales. For $c_T^2 = 1$, in the quasi-static regime and on scales above the mass scale of the model, the running of the Planck mass is the main contributor to both μ , implying that the relation between Ξ and μ tends towards the simple form

$$\Xi(z) = \sqrt{1 + \frac{1}{\mu(z)}}.$$
(4.8)

However, on smaller scales, the relation becomes more complicated, as discussed in [147], and the expression for Ξ would acquire another term, dependent on the other MG functions at play. For the parametrization of μ and η that we employ in this work, based on [135], the exact form of this additional term, which should depend on η , is complex to work out without loosing generality. For this reason, we decide to parametrize the Ξ function as follows

$$\Xi(z) = \sqrt{1 + \frac{1}{\mu(z)} + \frac{a_1}{\eta(z)^{a_2}}},\tag{4.9}$$

where a_1 and a_2 are varied along with the other parameters in the Fisher analysis and regarded as nuisances. With this parametrization of Ξ we can reproduce the main features of the results found for several models [125]. We fix the fiducial values of a_1 and a_2 in order to obtain a variation of Ξ in redshift comparable to the results for DHOST models in [125].

Let us stress that our method for GW lensing builds on the expressions for the luminosity distance of GWs and its relativistic corrections; the latter are explicitly known only for the class of Horndeski models with luminal speed of tensors. This is therefore the context in which we perform our analysis. In this framework, the Ξ function is not independent of the μ, η or μ, Σ functions. In other words, they all depend, solely or partially, on the non-minimal coupling of the theory. A more general framework may not encode this dependence; forecasts in such case would be expected to be less constraining. In order to correctly quantify the degrading, we would need to go beyond the theoretical framework on which we have built our analysis; this is certainly an interesting direction for future work.

In the following section we discuss how the observables that we consider in this work are modified in light of the MG phenomenological functions.

4.2 Angular power spectra (in MG) and MG parameters

Above, we commented on how the MG parameters affect the linear matter power spectrum (see figure 3). In this section, we outline their impact on the observables that we consider in this work, presented in section 2.1.

On the one hand, all the angular power spectra are computed with the linear matter power spectrum $P_{\rm mm}(k, z)$. In our analysis the modified $P_{\rm mm}(k, z)$ is computed numerically by means of the code MGCAMB, as discussed above. As can be noticed in figure 3, the MG functions affect the matter power spectrum $P_{\rm mm}(k)$. The effect of μ is quite direct and the most notable, given that μ changes the rate of clustering of matter. The functions η and Σ have a less direct impact on $P_{\rm mm}(k)$, but still affect it. In particular, Σ impacts the C spectrum via the magnification bias. On the other hand, the MG models we consider modify the lensing potential. In the scalar sector, modifications to the lensing potential are encoded by the MG function $\Sigma(z)$, through equation (4.4). This means that an extra factor $\Sigma(z)$ appears for each time the term ($\Phi + \Psi$) appears. Thus, the lensing angular power spectra of equation (2.7) become [140]

$$C_{\rm LL}^{\rm X_i Y_j}(\ell) = \int_0^\infty \frac{dz \ c}{H(z)} \ \frac{W_{\rm L}^{\rm X_i}(z) \ W_{\rm L}^{\rm Y_j}(z)}{\chi^2(z)} \ \Sigma^2(z) \ P_{\rm mm}\left(\frac{\ell}{\chi(z)}, z\right), \tag{4.10}$$

while the cross-correlation spectra between lensing and clustering will be

$$C_{\rm CL}^{\rm X_i Y_j}(\ell) = \int_0^\infty \frac{dz \ c}{H(z)} \ \frac{W_{\rm C}^{\rm X_i}\left(\frac{\ell}{\chi(z)}, z\right) \ W_{\rm L}^{\rm Y_j}(z)}{\chi^2(z)} \ \Sigma(z) P_{\rm mm}\left(\frac{\ell}{\chi(z)}, z\right). \tag{4.11}$$

Following [107], the $\Xi(z)$ function is going to appear in the Lensing observables related to bright GW sirens. This is because for bright sirens the estimator of the convergence depends on the ratio $d_{\rm L}^{\rm GW}/d_{\rm L}^{\rm EM}$. Explicitly, this results into

$$C_{\rm LL}^{\rm GW_i^{\rm bright}} {\rm GW_j^{\rm bright}}(\ell) \simeq \Xi^2(z) \int_0^\infty \frac{dz' c}{H(z')} \frac{W_{\rm L}^{\rm X_i}(z') W_{\rm L}^{\rm Y_j}(z')}{\chi^2(z')} \Sigma^2(z') P_{\rm mm}\left(\frac{\ell}{\chi(z')}, z'\right), \quad (4.12)$$

while the cross-correlation spectra between lensing and clustering will be

$$C_{\mathrm{L}\Theta}^{\mathrm{GW}_{i}^{\mathrm{bright}}\mathrm{Y}_{j}}(\ell) \simeq \Xi(z) \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dz' c}{H(z')} \frac{W_{\mathrm{L}}^{\mathrm{GW}_{i}^{\mathrm{GW}_{i}^{\mathrm{Herr}}\mathrm{Y}_{j}}\left(\frac{\ell}{\chi(z')}, z'\right) W_{\mathrm{L}}^{\mathrm{Y}_{j}}(z')}{\chi^{2}(z')} \Sigma(z') P_{\mathrm{mm}}\left(\frac{\ell}{\chi(z')}, z'\right).$$

$$(4.13)$$

bright

Following reference [107], it is worth clarifying that the approximately equal symbol in the above two equations is due to the linearization at first order of the convergence estimator, in the parameters describing it which are introduced in equation (3.8) of [107]. We refer the interested reader to reference [107] for further details.

5 Forecasts

In accordance to what described in section 2.2, we perform a Fisher analysis on the following parameters: $\{E_{11}, E_{22}, w_0, w_a, \ln 10^{10}A_s, n_s, K^{\text{fg}}, a_1, a_2\}$ (for a total of 9 parameters). The fiducial values we use in this pipeline (mainly taken from Planck results [126]) are summarized in table 2.⁴ Where explicitly stated, the $\{w_0, w_a\}$ parameters are kept fixed instead. Given errors on $\{E_{11}, E_{22}\}$, we derive constraints on the $\{\mu_0, \eta_0, \Sigma_0\}$ parameters. We perform Fisher analysis for the following different cases:

- Different probes: L only, C only, and L + C;
- Different tracers combinations: $GW \times IM$ and $GW \times IM \times gal$;
- GW are either treated as dark (BHBH and BHNS mergers) or bright (NSNS) sirens.

⁴The fiducial value of K^{fg} depends on the case considered (z binning and probe): we adopt $K^{\text{fg}} = 5.72 \cdot 10^{-8}$ (9.64 $\cdot 10^{-6}$) for the redshift binning chosen in the dark sirens case for the Lensing (Clustering) probe and $K^{\text{fg}} = 4.49 \cdot 10^{-8}$ (1.05 $\cdot 10^{-5}$) for the redshift binning chosen in the bright sirens case for the Lensing (Clustering) probe. The fiducial values for $\{a_1, a_2\}$ are respectively -0.95 and 0.14. We omit these values from table 2 for the sake of simplicity.

	σ_{μ_0}	σ_{η_0}	σ_{Σ_0}	σ_{w_0}	σ_{w_a}	σ_{μ_0}	σ_{η_0}	σ_{Σ_0}	σ_{w_0}	σ_{w_a}	
		$darkGW \times IM$					${f bright GW imes IM}$				
LENSING	15.62	38.92	2.09	2.78	8.66	24.45	61.86	3.73	4.59	16.18	
CLUSTERING	1.20	1.84	0.99	0.53	1.43	1.12	1.84	1.00	0.47	1.34	
L + C	0.10	0.24	0.04	0.11	0.23	0.08	0.20	0.06	0.05	0.15	
	(${ m darkGW imes IM imes gal}$			${ m brightGW imes IM imes gal}$						
LENSING	1.96	4.48	0.09	0.45	1.41	2.78	6.66	0.24	0.96	3.62	
CLUSTERING	0.80	1.39	0.82	0.32	0.92	0.30	1.25	0.68	0.12	0.35	
L + C	0.05	0.11	0.01	0.04	0.08	0.06	0.10	0.02	0.03	0.09	

Table 3. Fisher estimated errors on the $\mu_0, \eta_0, \Sigma_0, w_0, w_a$ parameters for different tracers and probes combinations.

	σ_{μ_0}	σ_{η_0}	σ_{Σ_0}	σ_{μ_0}	σ_{η_0}	σ_{Σ_0}	
	darkGW×IM			brightGW imes IM			
LENSING	10.46	25.46	1.06	16.38	40.61	2.06	
CLUSTERING	0.18	1.10	0.62	0.19	1.23	0.68	
L + C	0.09	0.20	0.02	0.03	0.09	0.03	
	$darkGW \times IM \times gal$			$brightGW \times IM \times gal$			
LENSING	1.13	2.60	0.06	1.63	3.93	0.14	
CLUSTERING	0.17	1.08	0.61	0.09	0.50	0.29	
L + C	0.08	0.17	0.02	0.03	0.06	0.01	

Table 4. Fisher estimated errors on the μ_0, η_0, Σ_0 parameters for different tracers and probes combinations. The parameters w_0, w_a are kept fixed.

The next section provides results on $\{\mu_0, \Sigma_0\}$ for all the cases listed above. Appendix A provides the same results for $\{\mu_0, \eta_0\}$.

5.1 Results

We provide Fisher estimated constraints on the $\{\mu_0, \eta_0, \Sigma_0\}$ parameters (and w_0, w_a where relevant) in tables 3 and 4. All results refer to $f_{\rm sky} = 0.5$ and $T_{\rm obs}^{\rm GW} = 15$ yr.

In figures 4, 5 we provide $1 - 2\sigma$ contour ellipses on the $\{\mu_0, \Sigma_0\}$ parameters (for $f_{\rm sky} = 0.5$ and $T_{\rm obs}^{\rm GW} = 15 \,\rm{yr}$). In figures 6, 7 we provide forecasts on $\{\mu_0, \Sigma_0\}$ for different values of $f_{\rm sky}$, fixing w_0, w_a . The same plots for the $\{\mu_0, \eta_0\}$ parameters are provided in appendix A (figures 10, 11, 12, 13). In light of these results, we can express the statements in the following.

Lensing-only case. Focusing on the Lensing-only case, we find that both bright and dark sirens cases are not good at constraining the parameters of interest, although some differences in the constraining power between the two cases can be found. Indeed, considering bright sources brings both advantages and disadvantages, with the resulting outcome depending on which of the two dominates. Specifically, the advantage of having an EM counterpart is enclosed in the presence of the MG function Ξ defined in section 4 (not present for dark sirens), which introduces a severely stronger dependence of the C_{ℓ} s on the μ_0, η_0, Σ_0 parameters. On



Figure 4. Contours for $\{\mu_0, \Sigma_0\}$ in the GW×IM (solid line) and GW×IM×gal (dashed line) cases, all probes considered (colors according to legend). Left panels refer to dark sirens (BHBH+BHNS), right panels refer to bright sirens (NSNS). w_0, w_a are among the Fisher parameters considered. $T_{obs}^{GW} = 15$ yr and $f_{sky} = 0.5$.



Figure 5. Contours for $\{\mu_0, \Sigma_0\}$ in the GW×IM (solid line) and GW×IM×gal (dashed line) cases, all probes considered (colors according to legend). Left panels refer to dark sirens (BHBH+BHNS), right panels refer to bright sirens (NSNS). w_0, w_a are fixed to fiducial values. $T_{obs}^{GW} = 15$ yr and $f_{sky} = 0.5$.

the other side, detectable bright sources cover a lower redshift range (since NSNS binaries are less massive than BHBH or BHNS they can be detected up to lower redshifts). This might give a disadvantage, both concerning the number of detected sources (i.e., worse shot noise) and the possibility to perform a less deep tomography (fewer redshift bins available, i.e., less information). Overall, bright sirens may give better/worse results with respect to



Figure 6. Contours for $\{\mu_0, \Sigma_0\}$ parameters for the GW×IM case, all probes considered (only Lensing: left panels; only Clustering: center panels; Lensing + Clustering: right panels), for dark (top panels) and bright (bottom panels) sirens and for different values of $f_{\rm sky}$ (colour-coded according to legend). w_0, w_a are fixed to fiducial values. $T_{\rm obs}^{\rm GW} = 15$ yr.

the dark case depending on the balance between these two effects and on which probe we are considering.

Generally, in the L-only case the advantages of considering bright sirens are not able to dominate on the downsides (or at least significantly), with constraints comparable between the two cases (see e.g., tables 3 and 4). This is even more evident in e.g., figures 4, 5, 10, 11: the L-only contour ellipses (in yellow) show an extremely wide extension in all dark sirens panels (left side), leaving especially μ_0 and η_0 barely constrained. Unfortunately, a similar trend can be found for bright sirens L-only ellipses (right panels of both figures). The same insight can be drawn from figures 6, 7, 12, 13.

Furthermore, we can see that adding galaxies in addition to the $GW \times IM$ cross-correlation significantly improves the results, especially in the dark sirens case: dashed lines $(GW \times IM \times gal)$ in figures 4 and 5 tend to mark tighter ellipses than solid lines $(GW \times IM)$.

Overall, Lensing-only forecasts are non-competitive with Planck constraints [126], showing nonetheless the advantage of taking into account the information coming from a higher number of tracers ($GW \times IM \times gal vs. GW \times IM$).

L+C case. Adding the angular Clustering probe to Lensing data (L+C case) significantly improves the results in any case considered (bright/dark sirens, with/without adding resolved galaxies), providing constraints tighter up to two orders of magnitude (see e.g., table 4). This shows that not only cross-correlating different tracers but especially combining together different probes is a remarkably powerful tool to exploit, that provides significant extra information. This is especially evident in figures 4 and 10: the C-only (in blue) and especially



Figure 7. Contours for $\{\mu_0, \Sigma_0\}$ parameters for the GW×IM×gal case, all probes considered (only Lensing: left panels; only Clustering: center panels; Lensing + Clustering: right panels), for dark (top panels) and bright (bottom panels) sirens and for different values of $f_{\rm sky}$ (colour-coded according to legend). w_0, w_a are fixed to fiducial values. $T_{\rm obs}^{\rm GW} = 15$ yr.

the L+C (in red) contours are firmly more constraining than the (yellow) L-only ones, often breaking down degeneracies between parameters.

The best results we obtain in the L+C case are very competitive with Planck results [126], highlighting the power of cross-combining observables of different tracers and probes. Results concerning the Σ_0 parameter are especially promising. This is reasonable since Σ_0 is the parameter describing deviations from GR for Lensing effects, as explained in section 4. To highlight the competitiveness of our best constraints with those from Planck, in figure 8 we compare our L+C forecasts (GW×IM×gal case) with the 68% confidence regions from Planck TT, TE, EE+lowE (without CMB lensing, see table 7 of [126]). Planck results are compatible with ACDM and Planck data alone do not show a significant preference for beyond Λ CDM values of μ_0 , η_0 and Σ_0 : indeed, their results are less than 1σ away from the ACDM limit for μ_0 and η_0 , and $\sim 2\sigma$ for Σ_0 . Our best results are highly competitive and severely reduce Planck errors: assuming a Planck best fit as fiducial value our measurements show a mild preference for non-ACDM values of μ_0 and η_0 (respectively ~ 4 σ and ~ 9σ), and a clearly stronger preference for Σ_0 (at more than 20σ), since our lensing observable is strongly affected by it. This means that if experimental data will confirm beyond ACDM central values, we would be able to confirm a preference for MG models with a high confidence level.

Comparing the bright/dark sirens cases, we see no univocal pattern among the two (see e.g., red L+C contours in figures 4 and 5). This can be motivated by the explanation laid in the previous point: taking bright sirens has both pros (extra information contained in the Ξ parameter for Lensing) and cons (shallower tomography in both L and C). Given the



Figure 8. Contours for the most stringent constraints we find on $\{\mu_0, \Sigma_0\}$: GW×IM×gal, Lensing + Clustering case, for dark (left) and bright (right) sirens and for different values of $f_{\rm sky}$ (colour-coded according to legend). w_0, w_a are fixed to fiducial values. $T_{\rm obs}^{\rm GW} = 15$ yr. The gray area shows $1\sigma = 68\%$ confidence regions from Planck TT,TE,EE+lowE without CMB lensing (see table 7 of [126]).

addition of Clustering (which is independent of Ξ) we can not naturally expect a striking difference as for the L-only case, but a competition between these two opposite effects, with not clearly predictable outcomes. We also note that generally adding galaxies improves the constraining power, which is an expected outcome as more information is being fed to the pipeline (as for the L-only case).

Fixing $\{a_1, a_2\}$ parameters. In section 4 we have introduced the $\Xi(z)$ function, which is parametrized by $\{a_1, a_2\}$ according to equation (4.9). In order to take into account possible uncertainties to the modeling of this function, we opted to allow $\{a_1, a_2\}$ to vary, introducing them among the Fisher parameters considered in the analysis (as described in section 4). Nonetheless, this inevitably introduces an extra source of uncertainty, disadvantaging predictions for the bright sources case and leading to forecasts in the Lensing-only case for bright sirens usually no better than those for dark sirens, as highlighted in the "Lensing-only case" subsection above. Nonetheless, one may wonder what the advantage of considering bright sources would be if the behaviour of $\Xi(z)$ was assumed fixed, getting rid of this extra source of uncertainty. Figure 9 provides constraints on μ_0, η_0, Σ_0 (for $f_{sky} = 0.5$ and $T_{obs}^{GW} = 15$ yr) for the Lensing-only case, comparing the cases of $\{a_1, a_2\}$ open and $\{a_1, a_2\}$ fixed to fiducial values (with w_0, w_a fixed). It shows a significant improvement in the constraining power of the experiments, with contour ellipses covering more reasonable ranges, highlighting a severe degradation in the constraining power due to the uncertainty on the modeling of the parameters describing $\Xi(z)$.



Figure 9. Contours for $\{\mu_0, \eta_0\}$ and (μ_0, Σ_0) in the GW×IM (solid line) and GW×IM×gal (dashed line) cases, for the only-L case. Comparison between forecasts fixing or opening the $\{a_1, a_2\}$ parameters describing the Ξ function according to equation (4.9). w_0, w_a are fixed to fiducial values. $T_{\rm obs}^{\rm GW} = 15 \, {\rm yr}$ and $f_{\rm sky} = 0.5$.

Indeed, Fisher estimated errors on $\{\mu_0, \eta_0, \Sigma_0\}$ when keeping $\{a_1, a_2\}$ fixed are the following: $\{1.32, 3.29, 0.70\}$ for the GW × IM case and $\{0.75, 1.80, 0.08\}$ when adding galaxies. When comparing these numerical values to those in the "LENSING" rows of table 4, we can see an improvement of up to one order of magnitude (for the GW × IM case).

These results show that if the behaviour of $\Xi(z)$ was to be known, being able to detect an EM counterpart would be of crucial importance for experiments based only on the Weak Lensing observable, allowing to constrain $\{\mu_0, \eta_0, \Sigma_0\}$ with good accuracy, and significantly better than a case in which only dark sirens would be available. Nonetheless, an approach taking into account the uncertainty on the modeling of $\Xi(z)$ is safer and more realistic, although provides more pessimistic forecasts.

 $\{\mathbf{w_0}, \mathbf{w_a}\}$ effects. Since we are studying theories with fixed background, it is natural to wonder about the impact of keeping the $\{w_0, w_a\}$ parameters fixed (results provided in table 4 and figures 5, 11) or open, as extra Fisher parameters (table 3 and figures 4, 10). When fixing w_0, w_a at their fiducial values results are in general either comparable or significantly more optimistic (up to a few factors unity), with smaller contour ellipses. As one would expect, the higher number of free parameters usually leads to less tight constraints.

 $\mathbf{f_{sky}}$ effects. Improving the surveyed area of the sky logically improves the constraining power, sometimes significantly. It can be seen in figures 6, 7, 12, 13 that the contours related to higher values of f_{sky} (in magenta) are tighter than those for low $f_{sky} = 0.1$ values (in green), sometimes reducing parameters degeneracies. This is valid for all considered probes: L, C and L+C (left, middle and right panels). We also report, not shown explicitly, a very mild dependence on the values of T_{obs}^{GW} , showing that in this framework the GW shot noise does not provide the bulk of the weight to the error budget.

Role of the EM counterpart for bright sirens. As described over the course of this manuscript, the bright sirens case relies on the assumption that NSNS mergers are associated with an EM counterpart. This is an optimistic starting point, which is why we accompany these results to the BHBH+BHNS dark case. For completeness (although not explicitly reported here for the sake of brevity) we have also computed forecasts labelling all GW sources (BHBH, BHNS and NSNS mergers) as dark sirens. We found that results are generally comparable to the BHBH+BHNS dark case up to a few percentages. For this reason, results in this latter case can also be seen as a proxy for forecasts in a scenario characterized by a complete lack of EM counterparts.

Impact of ℓ_{max} for bright sirens. Throughout this section, we have provided results with a choice of $\ell_{\text{max}} = 300$ for detected bright sirens. As described in section 3.1, we are allowed to push our angular resolution limit beyond the intrinsic instrument limitation thanks to the detectability of EM counterparts. Nonetheless, we explored a set-up with an $\ell_{\text{max}} = 100$ even for bright sirens. This way, we are testing the extreme case in which EM counterparts would not be exploited for improving the angular resolution. Forecasts obtained this way are less optimistic than the $\ell_{\text{max}} = 300$ ones, with relative differences from just a few percentages (mainly for the Lensing-only case) up to a factor ~ 5 for the Clustering-only and L+C cases. Nonetheless, we note that this would not lead to orders of magnitude of difference among the forecasts, providing us fairly robust results to the specific ℓ_{max} choice.

6 Conclusions

Cross-correlations between different tracers of the LSS and different observable probes can richly enhance the amount of physical information that can be extracted by present and forthcoming experiments. In this work we considered three different tracers: *(i)* resolved GW signals from compact object mergers as observed by ET, both assuming the detection of EM counterparts (for NSNS, bright sirens) or not (for BHBH and BHNS, dark sirens); *(ii)* the Intensity Mapping of the neutral hydrogen distribution as observed by the SKA-Mid survey; *(iii)* resolved radio-galaxies as mapped by SKAO. This allows us to correlate and compare both GW and EM signals, testing the possible imprints of beyond-GR behaviours, as these two observables are supposed to respond in the same way to matter perturbations effects such as lensing. For this reason, the primary observational probe we took into account is the weak lensing power spectrum, both in auto and cross-tracers correlation. In order to gauge the effects of combining together different probes, we also introduced the angular clustering power spectra and their L×C cross-term. We performed a Fisher matrix analysis in order to test a late-time parametrization scenario, forecasting the constraining power on the MG parameters { μ_0, η_0, Σ_0 }.

Our findings show that combining together different observational probes has a strikingly positive effect on the constraining power, with an improvement of up to an order of magnitude and results which are even competitive with constraints from Planck. We also find that, generally, cross-correlating together more tracers provides better constraints, as the combination of more information from different sources is more powerful than auto-correlation only experiments.

In addition, we also show that when considering probes that describe physical effects that would be different between GW and EM sources (i.e., Lensing), the detection of an EM counterpart might be of crucial importance, allowing us to actively test the presence of different behaviours between these two observables and confirm or rule out GR alternatives to the description of gravity.

This work extends the efforts of the scientific community in the field of multi-tracing and multi-probes Astrophysics and Cosmology, showing that in an era rich in surveys and data (both from the present time and near-future experiments) the interconnection of different sources is able to yield results and constraints which are significantly more powerful than auto-correlation or single-probe results.

Acknowledgments

We are thankful to Anna Balaudo, Nicola Bellomo, Lumen Boco, Giulia Capurri, Alice Garoffolo, Suvodip Mukherjee, Gabriele Parimbelli, Alvise Raccanelli, Marco Raveri, Marta Spinelli and the LSS group at IFPU for useful discussions. We thank the anonymous referee for thoughtful evaluation of our work. GS, MB and MV are supported by the INFN PD51 INDARK grant. MV is also supported by the ASI-INAF agreement n. 2017–14-H.0. AS acknowledges support from the NWO and the Dutch Ministry of Education, Culture and Science (OCW) (grant VI.Vidi.192.069).

A Constraints on $\{\mu_0, \eta_0\}$: plots

In this appendix we provide contours plots on the constraints on the $\{\mu_0, \eta_0\}$ parameters. Comments on the results are embedded in the main text (section 5).



Figure 10. Contours for $\{\mu_0, \eta_0\}$ in the GW×IM (solid line) and GW×IM×gal (dashed line) cases, all probes considered (colors according to legend). Left panels refer to dark sirens (BHBH+BHNS), right panels refer to bright sirens (NSNS). w_0, w_a are among the Fisher parameters considered. $T_{\rm obs}^{\rm GW} = 15$ yr and $f_{\rm sky} = 0.5$.



1.75

1.50

1.25

0.75

0.50

^อ 1.00

Figure 11. Contours for $\{\mu_0, \eta_0\}$ in the GW×IM (solid line) and GW×IM×gal (dashed line) cases, all probes considered (colors according to legend). Left panels refer to dark sirens (BHBH+BHNS), right panels refer to bright sirens (NSNS). w_0, w_a are fixed to fiducial values. $T_{\rm obs}^{\rm GW} = 15$ yr and $f_{\rm sky} = 0.5$.



Figure 12. Contours for $\{\mu_0, \eta_0\}$ parameters for the GW×IM case, all probes considered (only Lensing: left panels; only Clustering: center panels; Lensing + Clustering: right panels), for dark (top panels) and bright (bottom panels) sirens and for different values of $f_{\rm sky}$ (colour-coded according to legend). w_0, w_a are fixed to fiducial values. $T_{\rm obs}^{\rm GW} = 15$ yr.



Figure 13. Contours for $\{\mu_0, \eta_0\}$ parameters for the GW×IM×gal case, all probes considered (only Lensing: left panels; only Clustering: center panels; Lensing + Clustering: right panels), for dark (top panels) and bright (bottom panels) sirens and for different values of $f_{\rm sky}$ (colour-coded according to legend). w_0, w_a are fixed to fiducial values. $T_{\rm obs}^{\rm GW} = 15$ yr.

References

- LIGO SCIENTIFIC and VIRGO collaborations, Observation of Gravitational Waves from a Binary Black Hole Merger, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 061102 [arXiv:1602.03837]
 [INSPIRE].
- [2] LIGO SCIENTIFIC and VIRGO collaborations, Properties of the Binary Black Hole Merger GW150914, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 241102 [arXiv:1602.03840] [INSPIRE].
- [3] LIGO SCIENTIFIC and VIRGO collaborations, GWTC-1: A Gravitational-Wave Transient Catalog of Compact Binary Mergers Observed by LIGO and Virgo during the First and Second Observing Runs, Phys. Rev. X 9 (2019) 031040 [arXiv:1811.12907] [INSPIRE].
- [4] LIGO SCIENTIFIC and VIRGO collaborations, GWTC-2: Compact Binary Coalescences Observed by LIGO and Virgo During the First Half of the Third Observing Run, Phys. Rev. X 11 (2021) 021053 [arXiv:2010.14527] [INSPIRE].
- [5] B. Sathyaprakash et al., Scientific Objectives of Einstein Telescope, Class. Quant. Grav. 29 (2012) 124013 [arXiv:1206.0331] [Erratum ibid. 30 (2013) 079501] [INSPIRE].
- [6] D. Reitze et al., Cosmic Explorer: The U.S. Contribution to Gravitational-Wave Astronomy beyond LIGO, Bull. Am. Astron. Soc. 51 (2019) 035 [arXiv:1907.04833] [INSPIRE].
- [7] P. Amaro-Seoane et al., Laser Interferometer Space Antenna, arXiv:1702.00786 [INSPIRE].
- [8] K. Somiya, Detector configuration of KAGRA: The Japanese cryogenic gravitational-wave detector, Class. Quant. Grav. 29 (2012) 124007 [arXiv:1111.7185] [INSPIRE].

- C.S. Unnikrishnan, IndIGO and LIGO-India: Scope and plans for gravitational wave research and precision metrology in India, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 22 (2013) 1341010
 [arXiv:1510.06059] [INSPIRE].
- [10] E.D. Kovetz et al., Line-Intensity Mapping: 2017 Status Report, arXiv:1709.09066 [INSPIRE].
- [11] J.L. Bernal and E.D. Kovetz, *Line-intensity mapping: theory review with a focus on star-formation lines, Astron. Astrophys. Rev.* **30** (2022) 5 [arXiv:2206.15377] [INSPIRE].
- [12] T.-C. Chang, U.-L. Pen, K. Bandura and J.B. Peterson, *Hydrogen 21 cm Intensity Mapping at redshift z* ≈ 0.8 , *Nature* **466** (2010) 463 [arXiv:1007.3709] [INSPIRE].
- [13] K.W. Masui et al., Measurement of 21 cm brightness fluctuations at $z \sim 0.8$ in cross-correlation, Astrophys. J. Lett. **763** (2013) L20 [arXiv:1208.0331] [INSPIRE].
- [14] F. Villaescusa-Navarro, M. Viel, K.K. Datta and T.R. Choudhury, Modeling the neutral hydrogen distribution in the post-reionization Universe: intensity mapping, JCAP 09 (2014) 050 [arXiv:1405.6713] [INSPIRE].
- [15] C.J. Anderson et al., Low-amplitude clustering in low-redshift 21 cm intensity maps cross-correlated with 2dF galaxy densities, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 476 (2018) 3382
 [arXiv:1710.00424] [INSPIRE].
- [16] L. Wolz et al., HI constraints from the cross-correlation of eBOSS galaxies and Green Bank Telescope intensity maps, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 510 (2022) 3495 [arXiv:2102.04946]
 [INSPIRE].
- [17] M.G. Santos et al., MeerKLASS: MeerKAT Large Area Synoptic Survey, in proceedings of the MeerKAT Science: On the Pathway to the SKA (MeerKAT2016), Stellenbosch, South Africa, 25–27 May 2016, arXiv:1709.06099 [INSPIRE].
- [18] J. Wang et al., HI intensity mapping with MeerKAT: calibration pipeline for multidish autocorrelation observations, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 505 (2021) 3698 [arXiv:2011.13789] [INSPIRE].
- [19] K. Bandura et al., Canadian Hydrogen Intensity Mapping Experiment (CHIME) Pathfinder, in proceedings of the Ground-based and Airborne Telescopes V, Montréal, QC, Canada, 22–27 June 2014, L.M. Stepp, R. Gilmozzi and H.J. Hall eds., SPIE (2014) [Proc. SPIE 9145 (2014) 22] [arXiv:1406.2288] [INSPIRE].
- [20] W. Hu, X. Wang, F. Wu, Y. Wang, P. Zhang and X. Chen, Forecast for FAST: from Galaxies Survey to Intensity Mapping, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 493 (2020) 5854 [arXiv:1909.10946] [INSPIRE].
- [21] R. Battye et al., Update on the BINGO 21 cm intensity mapping experiment, arXiv:1610.06826 [INSPIRE].
- [22] S. Das et al., Progress in the Construction and Testing of the Tianlai Radio Interferometers, in proceedings of the Millimeter, Submillimeter, and Far-Infrared Detectors and Instrumentation for Astronomy IX, Austin, TX, U.S.A., 10–15 June 2018, J. Zmuidzinas and J.-R. Gao eds., SPIE (2018) [Proc. SPIE 10708 (2018) 1070836] [arXiv:1806.04698] [INSPIRE].
- [23] L.B. Newburgh et al., HIRAX: A Probe of Dark Energy and Radio Transients, in proceedings of the Ground-based and Airborne Telescopes VI, Edinburgh, U.K., 26 June–1 July 2016, H.J. Hall, R. Gilmozzi and H.K. Marshall eds., SPIE (2016) [Proc. SPIE 9906 (2016) 99065X] [arXiv:1607.02059] [INSPIRE].
- [24] R. Braun, T.L. Bourke, J.A. Green, E. Keane and J. Wagg, Advancing Astrophysics with the Square Kilometre Array, PoS AASKA14 (2015) 174 [INSPIRE].
- [25] D.J. Bacon et al., Cosmology with Phase 1 of the Square Kilometre Array: Red Book 2018: Technical specifications and performance forecasts, Publ. Astron. Soc. Austral. 37 (2020) e007
 [arXiv:1811.02743] [INSPIRE].

- [26] R. Maartens, F.B. Abdalla, M. Jarvis and M.G. Santos, Overview of Cosmology with the SKA, PoS AASKA14 (2015) 016 [arXiv:1501.04076] [INSPIRE].
- [27] M.G. Santos et al., Cosmology from a SKA HI intensity mapping survey, PoS AASKA14 (2015) 019 [arXiv:1501.03989] [INSPIRE].
- [28] R. Laureijs et al., *Euclid Definition Study Report*, ESA-SRE(2011)12 (2011) [arXiv:1110.3193] [INSPIRE].
- [29] R.P. Norris et al., EMU: Evolutionary Map of the Universe, Publ. Astron. Soc. Austral. 28 (2011) 215 [arXiv:1106.3219] [INSPIRE].
- [30] DESI collaboration, The DESI Experiment. Part I. Science, Targeting, and Survey Design, FERMILAB-PUB-16-517-AE (2016) [arXiv:1611.00036] [INSPIRE].
- [31] Ž. Ivezić et al., LSST: from Science Drivers to Reference Design and Anticipated Data Products, Astrophys. J. 873 (2019) 111 [arXiv:0805.2366] [INSPIRE].
- [32] J.P. Gardner et al., The James Webb Space Telescope, Space Sci. Rev. 123 (2006) 485
 [astro-ph/0606175] [INSPIRE].
- [33] O. Doré et al., Cosmology with the SPHEREX All-Sky Spectral Survey, arXiv:1412.4872 [INSPIRE].
- [34] D. Spergel et al., Wide-Field InfraRed Survey Telescope-Astrophysics Focused Telescope Assets WFIRST-AFTA Final Report, arXiv:1305.5422 [INSPIRE].
- [35] M.R. Nolta et al., First year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) observations: Dark energy induced correlation with radio sources, Astrophys. J. 608 (2004) 10 [astro-ph/0305097] [INSPIRE].
- [36] S. Ho, C. Hirata, N. Padmanabhan, U. Seljak and N. Bahcall, Correlation of CMB with large-scale structure. Part I. ISW Tomography and Cosmological Implications, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 043519 [arXiv:0801.0642] [INSPIRE].
- [37] C.M. Hirata, S. Ho, N. Padmanabhan, U. Seljak and N.A. Bahcall, Correlation of CMB with large-scale structure. Part II. Weak lensing, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 043520 [arXiv:0801.0644] [INSPIRE].
- [38] A. Raccanelli, A. Bonaldi, M. Negrello, S. Matarrese, G. Tormen and G. De Zotti, A reassessment of the evidence of the Integrated Sachs-Wolfe effect through the WMAP-NVSS correlation, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 386 (2008) 2161 [arXiv:0802.0084] [INSPIRE].
- [39] A. Raccanelli et al., Cosmological Measurements with Forthcoming Radio Continuum Surveys, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 424 (2012) 801 [arXiv:1108.0930] [INSPIRE].
- [40] A. Raccanelli et al., Probing primordial non-Gaussianity via iSW measurements with SKA continuum surveys, JCAP 01 (2015) 042 [arXiv:1406.0010] [INSPIRE].
- [41] HERSCHEL ATLAS collaboration, Cross-correlation between the CMB lensing potential measured by Planck and high-z submillimeter galaxies detected by the Herschel-ATLAS survey, Astrophys. J. 802 (2015) 64 [arXiv:1410.4502] [INSPIRE].
- [42] F. Bianchini and A. Lapi, Cross-correlation between cosmological and astrophysical datasets: the Planck and Herschel case, IAU Symp. 306 (2014) 202 [INSPIRE].
- [43] F. Bianchini et al., Toward a tomographic analysis of the cross-correlation between Planck CMB lensing and H-ATLAS galaxies, Astrophys. J. 825 (2016) 24 [arXiv:1511.05116]
 [INSPIRE].
- [44] S. Mukherjee, B.D. Wandelt and J. Silk, Multimessenger tests of gravity with weakly lensed gravitational waves, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 103509 [arXiv:1908.08950] [INSPIRE].

- [45] K. Fang, A. Banerjee, E. Charles and Y. Omori, A Cross-Correlation Study of High-energy Neutrinos and Tracers of Large-Scale Structure, Astrophys. J. 894 (2020) 112 [arXiv:2002.06234] [INSPIRE].
- [46] H.J. Martínez, M.E. Merchán, C.A. Valotto and D.G. Lambas, Quasar galaxy and AGN galaxy cross correlations, Astrophys. J. 514 (1999) 558 [astro-ph/9810482] [INSPIRE].
- [47] B. Jain, R. Scranton and R.K. Sheth, Quasar-galaxy and galaxy-galaxy cross-correlations: Model predictions with realistic galaxies, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 345 (2003) 62 [astro-ph/0304203] [INSPIRE].
- [48] X.-H. Yang, H.J. Mo, F.C. van den Bosch, S.M. Weinmann, C. Li and Y.P. Jing, The Cross-correlation between galaxies and groups: Probing the galaxy distribution in and around dark matter haloes, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 362 (2005) 711 [astro-ph/0504477] [INSPIRE].
- [49] K. Paech et al., Cross-correlation of galaxies and galaxy clusters in the Sloan Digital Sky Survey and the importance of non-Poissonian shot noise, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 470 (2017) 2566 [arXiv:1612.02018] [INSPIRE].
- [50] S.J. Schmidt, B. Ménard, R. Scranton, C. Morrison and C. McBride, Recovering Redshift Distributions with Cross-Correlations: Pushing The Boundaries, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 431 (2013) 3307 [arXiv:1303.0292] [INSPIRE].
- [51] D. Alonso and P.G. Ferreira, Constraining ultralarge-scale cosmology with multiple tracers in optical and radio surveys, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 063525 [arXiv:1507.03550] [INSPIRE].
- [52] E.D. Kovetz, A. Raccanelli and M. Rahman, Cosmological Constraints with Clustering-Based Redshifts, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 468 (2017) 3650 [arXiv:1606.07434] [INSPIRE].
- [53] L. Wolz, C. Tonini, C. Blake and J.S.B. Wyithe, Intensity Mapping Cross-Correlations: Connecting the Largest Scales to Galaxy Evolution, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 458 (2016) 3399 [arXiv:1512.04189] [INSPIRE].
- [54] A. Pourtsidou, D. Bacon, R. Crittenden and R.B. Metcalf, Prospects for clustering and lensing measurements with forthcoming intensity mapping and optical surveys, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 459 (2016) 863 [arXiv:1509.03286] [INSPIRE].
- [55] A. Pourtsidou, Testing gravity at large scales with HI intensity mapping, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 461 (2016) 1457 [arXiv:1511.05927] [INSPIRE].
- [56] A. Raccanelli, E.D. Kovetz, L. Dai and M. Kamionkowski, Detecting the integrated Sachs-Wolfe effect with high-redshift 21 cm surveys, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 083512 [arXiv:1502.03107] [INSPIRE].
- [57] A. Pourtsidou, D. Bacon and R. Crittenden, HI and cosmological constraints from intensity mapping, optical and CMB surveys, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 470 (2017) 4251 [arXiv:1610.04189] [INSPIRE].
- [58] L. Wolz, C. Blake and J.S.B. Wyithe, Determining the HI content of galaxies via intensity mapping cross-correlations, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 470 (2017) 3220 [arXiv:1703.08268] [INSPIRE].
- [59] D. Alonso, P.G. Ferreira, M.J. Jarvis and K. Moodley, Calibrating photometric redshifts with intensity mapping observations, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 043515 [arXiv:1704.01941] [INSPIRE].
- [60] L. Wolz, S.G. Murray, C. Blake and J.S. Wyithe, Intensity mapping cross-correlations. Part II. HI halo models including shot noise, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 484 (2019) 1007 [arXiv:1803.02477] [INSPIRE].
- [61] S. Cunnington, I. Harrison, A. Pourtsidou and D. Bacon, HI intensity mapping for clustering-based redshift estimation, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 482 (2019) 3341 [arXiv:1805.04498] [INSPIRE].

- [62] M. Oguri, Measuring the distance-redshift relation with the cross-correlation of gravitational wave standard sirens and galaxies, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 083511 [arXiv:1603.02356] [INSPIRE].
- [63] A. Raccanelli, E.D. Kovetz, S. Bird, I. Cholis and J.B. Muñoz, Determining the progenitors of merging black-hole binaries, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 023516 [arXiv:1605.01405] [INSPIRE].
- [64] G. Scelfo, N. Bellomo, A. Raccanelli, S. Matarrese and L. Verde, GW×LSS: chasing the progenitors of merging binary black holes, JCAP 09 (2018) 039 [arXiv:1809.03528v1] [INSPIRE].
- [65] G. Scelfo, L. Boco, A. Lapi and M. Viel, Exploring galaxies-gravitational waves cross-correlations as an astrophysical probe, JCAP 10 (2020) 045 [arXiv:2007.08534] [INSPIRE].
- [66] T. Namikawa, A. Nishizawa and A. Taruya, Anisotropies of gravitational-wave standard sirens as a new cosmological probe without redshift information, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 121302 [arXiv:1511.04638] [INSPIRE].
- [67] D. Alonso, G. Cusin, P.G. Ferreira and C. Pitrou, Detecting the anisotropic astrophysical gravitational wave background in the presence of shot noise through cross-correlations, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 023002 [arXiv:2002.02888] [INSPIRE].
- [68] G. Cañas Herrera, O. Contigiani and V. Vardanyan, Cross-correlation of the astrophysical gravitational-wave background with galaxy clustering, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 043513 [arXiv:1910.08353] [INSPIRE].
- [69] F. Calore, A. Cuoco, T. Regimbau, S. Sachdev and P.D. Serpico, Cross-correlating galaxy catalogs and gravitational waves: a tomographic approach, Phys. Rev. Res. 2 (2020) 023314 [arXiv:2002.02466] [INSPIRE].
- S. Camera and A. Nishizawa, Beyond Concordance Cosmology with Magnification of Gravitational-Wave Standard Sirens, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 151103 [arXiv:1303.5446]
 [INSPIRE].
- [71] S. Libanore et al., Gravitational Wave mergers as tracers of Large Scale Structures, JCAP 02 (2021) 035 [arXiv:2007.06905] [INSPIRE].
- [72] G. Scelfo, M. Spinelli, A. Raccanelli, L. Boco, A. Lapi and M. Viel, Gravitational waves × HI intensity mapping: cosmological and astrophysical applications, JCAP 01 (2022) 004 [arXiv:2106.09786] [INSPIRE].
- [73] S. Mukherjee, B.D. Wandelt and J. Silk, Probing the theory of gravity with gravitational lensing of gravitational waves and galaxy surveys, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 494 (2020) 1956 [arXiv:1908.08951] [INSPIRE].
- [74] S. Mukherjee, B.D. Wandelt, S.M. Nissanke and A. Silvestri, Accurate precision Cosmology with redshift unknown gravitational wave sources, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 043520 [arXiv:2007.02943] [INSPIRE].
- [75] S. Mukherjee and J. Silk, Time-dependence of the astrophysical stochastic gravitational wave background, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 491 (2020) 4690 [arXiv:1912.07657] [INSPIRE].
- [76] G. Cañas Herrera, O. Contigiani and V. Vardanyan, Learning How to Surf: Reconstructing the Propagation and Origin of Gravitational Waves with Gaussian Processes, Astrophys. J. 918 (2021) 20 [arXiv:2105.04262] [INSPIRE].
- [77] S. Mukherjee, A. Krolewski, B.D. Wandelt and J. Silk, Cross-correlating dark sirens and galaxies: measurement of H₀ from GWTC-3 of LIGO-Virgo-KAGRA, arXiv:2203.03643 [INSPIRE].
- [78] C. Cigarrán Díaz and S. Mukherjee, Mapping the cosmic expansion history from LIGO-Virgo-KAGRA in synergy with DESI and SPHEREx, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 511 (2022) 2782 [arXiv:2107.12787] [INSPIRE].

- [79] T. Baker and I. Harrison, Constraining Scalar-Tensor Modified Gravity with Gravitational Waves and Large Scale Structure Surveys, JCAP 01 (2021) 068 [arXiv:2007.13791] [INSPIRE].
- [80] S. Mukherjee, B.D. Wandelt and J. Silk, Testing the general theory of relativity using gravitational wave propagation from dark standard sirens, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 502 (2021) 1136 [arXiv:2012.15316] [INSPIRE].
- [81] M. Kilbinger et al., Precision calculations of the cosmic shear power spectrum projection, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 472 (2017) 2126 [arXiv:1702.05301] [INSPIRE].
- [82] M. Bartelmann and P. Schneider, Weak gravitational lensing, Phys. Rept. 340 (2001) 291 [astro-ph/9912508] [INSPIRE].
- [83] H. Hoekstra and B. Jain, Weak Gravitational Lensing and its Cosmological Applications, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 58 (2008) 99 [arXiv:0805.0139] [INSPIRE].
- [84] B. Joachimi et al., Galaxy alignments: An overview, Space Sci. Rev. 193 (2015) 1 [arXiv:1504.05456] [INSPIRE].
- [85] EUCLID collaboration, Euclid preparation. Part VII. Forecast validation for Euclid cosmological probes, Astron. Astrophys. 642 (2020) A191 [arXiv:1910.09273] [INSPIRE].
- [86] B. Joachimi, R. Mandelbaum, F.B. Abdalla and S.L. Bridle, Constraints on intrinsic alignment contamination of weak lensing surveys using the MegaZ-LRG sample, Astron. Astrophys. 527 (2011) A26 [arXiv:1008.3491] [INSPIRE].
- [87] R. Takahashi, Amplitude and phase fluctuations for gravitational waves propagating through inhomogeneous mass distribution in the universe, Astrophys. J. 644 (2006) 80 [astro-ph/0511517] [INSPIRE].
- [88] P. Laguna, S.L. Larson, D. Spergel and N. Yunes, Integrated Sachs-Wolfe Effect for Gravitational Radiation, Astrophys. J. Lett. 715 (2010) L12 [arXiv:0905.1908] [INSPIRE].
- [89] C. Cutler and D.E. Holz, Ultra-high precision cosmology from gravitational waves, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 104009 [arXiv:0906.3752] [INSPIRE].
- [90] G. Congedo and A. Taylor, Joint cosmological inference of standard sirens and gravitational wave weak lensing, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 083526 [arXiv:1812.02730] [INSPIRE].
- [91] D. Bertacca, A. Raccanelli, N. Bartolo and S. Matarrese, Cosmological perturbation effects on gravitational-wave luminosity distance estimates, Phys. Dark Univ. 20 (2018) 32 [arXiv:1702.01750] [INSPIRE].
- [92] C.T. Mpetha, G. Congedo and A. Taylor, Future prospects on testing extensions to ΛCDM through the weak lensing of gravitational waves, arXiv:2208.05959 [INSPIRE].
- [93] A. Pourtsidou and R.B. Metcalf, Weak lensing with 21 cm intensity mapping at z ~ 2-3, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 439 (2014) L36 [arXiv:1311.4484] [INSPIRE].
- [94] A. Pourtsidou and R.B. Metcalf, Gravitational lensing of cosmological 21 cm emission, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 448 (2015) 2368 [arXiv:1410.2533] [INSPIRE].
- [95] N. Kaiser, On the Spatial correlations of Abell clusters, Astrophys. J. Lett. 284 (1984) L9 [INSPIRE].
- [96] J.M. Bardeen, J.R. Bond, N. Kaiser and A.S. Szalay, The Statistics of Peaks of Gaussian Random Fields, Astrophys. J. 304 (1986) 15 [INSPIRE].
- [97] H.J. Mo and S.D.M. White, An Analytic model for the spatial clustering of dark matter halos, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 282 (1996) 347 [astro-ph/9512127] [INSPIRE].
- [98] S. Matarrese, P. Coles, F. Lucchin and L. Moscardini, Redshift evolution of clustering, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 286 (1997) 115 [astro-ph/9608004] [INSPIRE].

- [99] A. Dekel and O. Lahav, Stochastic nonlinear galaxy biasing, Astrophys. J. 520 (1999) 24 [astro-ph/9806193] [INSPIRE].
- [100] A.J. Benson, S. Cole, C.S. Frenk, C.M. Baugh and C.G. Lacey, The Nature of galaxy bias and clustering, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 311 (2000) 793 [astro-ph/9903343] [INSPIRE].
- [101] J.A. Peacock and R.E. Smith, Halo occupation numbers and galaxy bias, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 318 (2000) 1144 [astro-ph/0005010] [INSPIRE].
- [102] V. Desjacques, D. Jeong and F. Schmidt, Large-Scale Galaxy Bias, Phys. Rept. 733 (2018) 1 [arXiv:1611.09787] [INSPIRE].
- [103] W. Gilks, S. Richardson and D. Spiegelhalter, Markov Chain Monte Carlo in Practice, in Chapman & Hall/CRC Interdisciplinary Statistics, Taylor & Francis (1995).
- [104] N. Bellomo, J.L. Bernal, G. Scelfo, A. Raccanelli and L. Verde, Beware of commonly used approximations. Part I. Errors in forecasts, JCAP 10 (2020) 016 [arXiv:2005.10384] [INSPIRE].
- [105] J.L. Bernal, N. Bellomo, A. Raccanelli and L. Verde, Beware of commonly used approximations. Part II. Estimating systematic biases in the best-fit parameters, JCAP 10 (2020) 017 [arXiv:2005.09666] [INSPIRE].
- [106] M. Safarzadeh et al., Measuring the delay time distribution of binary neutron stars. Part II. Using the redshift distribution from third-generation gravitational wave detectors network, Astrophys. J. Lett. 878 (2019) L13 [arXiv:1904.10976] [INSPIRE].
- [107] A. Balaudo, A. Garoffolo, M. Martinelli, S. Mukherjee and A. Silvestri, Prospects of testing late-time cosmology with weak lensing of gravitational waves and galaxy surveys, arXiv:2210.06398 [INSPIRE].
- [108] L. Boco, A. Lapi, S. Goswami, F. Perrotta, C. Baccigalupi and L. Danese, Merging Rates of Compact Binaries in Galaxies: Perspectives for Gravitational Wave Detections, Astrophys. J. 881 (2019) 157 [arXiv:1907.06841] [INSPIRE].
- [109] R. Aversa, A. Lapi, G. de Zotti, F. Shankar and L. Danese, Black Hole and Galaxy Coevolution from Continuity Equation and Abundance Matching, Astrophys. J. 810 (2015) 74 [arXiv:1507.07318] [INSPIRE].
- [110] W. Del Pozzo, Measuring the Hubble constant using gravitational waves, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 484 (2014) 012030 [INSPIRE].
- [111] P.E. Dewdney, P.J. Hall, R.T. Schilizzi and T.J.L.W. Lazio, The square kilometre array, Proc. IEEE 97 (2009) 1482.
- [112] R.A. Battye, I.W.A. Browne, C. Dickinson, G. Heron, B. Maffei and A. Pourtsidou, HI intensity mapping: a single dish approach, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 434 (2013) 1239 [arXiv:1209.0343] [INSPIRE].
- [113] M. Spinelli, A. Zoldan, G. De Lucia, L. Xie and M. Viel, The atomic Hydrogen content of the post-reionization Universe, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 493 (2020) 5434 [arXiv:1909.02242] [INSPIRE].
- [114] F. Villaescusa-Navarro et al., Ingredients for 21 cm Intensity Mapping, Astrophys. J. 866 (2018) 135 [arXiv:1804.09180] [INSPIRE].
- [115] E.R. Switzer et al., Determination of z ~ 0.8 neutral hydrogen fluctuations using the 21 cm intensity mapping auto-correlation, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 434 (2013) L46
 [arXiv:1304.3712] [INSPIRE].
- [116] D. Alonso, P. Bull, P.G. Ferreira and M.G. Santos, Blind foreground subtraction for intensity mapping experiments, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 447 (2015) 400 [arXiv:1409.8667]
 [INSPIRE].

- [117] I.P. Carucci, M.O. Irfan and J. Bobin, Recovery of 21 cm intensity maps with sparse component separation, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 499 (2020) 304 [arXiv:2006.05996]
 [INSPIRE].
- [118] S. Cunnington, M.O. Irfan, I.P. Carucci, A. Pourtsidou and J. Bobin, 21 cm foregrounds and polarization leakage: cleaning and mitigation strategies, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 504 (2021) 208 [arXiv:2010.02907] [INSPIRE].
- [119] S.D. Matshawule, M. Spinelli, M.G. Santos and S. Ngobese, HI intensity mapping with MeerKAT: primary beam effects on foreground cleaning, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 506 (2021) 5075 [arXiv:2011.10815] [INSPIRE].
- [120] P.S. Soares, C.A. Watkinson, S. Cunnington and A. Pourtsidou, Gaussian Process Regression for foreground removal in HI Intensity Mapping experiments, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 510 (2022) 5872 [arXiv:2105.12665] [INSPIRE].
- [121] P. Bull, P.G. Ferreira, P. Patel and M.G. Santos, Late-time cosmology with 21 cm intensity mapping experiments, Astrophys. J. 803 (2015) 21 [arXiv:1405.1452] [INSPIRE].
- [122] A. Bonaldi et al., The Tiered Radio Extragalactic Continuum Simulation (T-RECS), Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 482 (2019) 2 [arXiv:1805.05222] [INSPIRE].
- [123] R.J. Wilman et al., A semi-empirical simulation of the extragalactic radio continuum sky for next generation radio telescopes, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 388 (2008) 1335
 [arXiv:0805.3413] [INSPIRE].
- [124] T. Sprenger, M. Archidiacono, T. Brinckmann, S. Clesse and J. Lesgourgues, Cosmology in the era of Euclid and the Square Kilometre Array, JCAP 02 (2019) 047 [arXiv:1801.08331] [INSPIRE].
- [125] LISA COSMOLOGY Working Group, Testing modified gravity at cosmological distances with LISA standard sirens, JCAP 07 (2019) 024 [arXiv:1906.01593] [INSPIRE].
- [126] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2018 results. Part VI. Cosmological parameters, Astron. Astrophys. 641 (2020) A6 [arXiv:1807.06209] [Erratum ibid. 652 (2021) C4] [INSPIRE].
- [127] A. Silvestri and M. Trodden, Approaches to Understanding Cosmic Acceleration, Rept. Prog. Phys. 72 (2009) 096901 [arXiv:0904.0024] [INSPIRE].
- [128] A. Joyce, B. Jain, J. Khoury and M. Trodden, Beyond the Cosmological Standard Model, Phys. Rept. 568 (2015) 1 [arXiv:1407.0059] [INSPIRE].
- [129] E. Bertschinger, On the Growth of Perturbations as a Test of Dark Energy, Astrophys. J. 648 (2006) 797 [astro-ph/0604485] [INSPIRE].
- [130] L. Amendola, M. Kunz and D. Sapone, Measuring the dark side (with weak lensing), JCAP 04 (2008) 013 [arXiv:0704.2421] [INSPIRE].
- [131] L. Pogosian and A. Silvestri, The pattern of growth in viable f(R) cosmologies, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 023503 [arXiv:0709.0296] [Erratum ibid. 81 (2010) 049901] [INSPIRE].
- [132] G.-B. Zhao, L. Pogosian, A. Silvestri and J. Zylberberg, Searching for modified growth patterns with tomographic surveys, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 083513 [arXiv:0809.3791] [INSPIRE].
- [133] P. Zhang, M. Liguori, R. Bean and S. Dodelson, Probing Gravity at Cosmological Scales by Measurements which Test the Relationship between Gravitational Lensing and Matter Overdensity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 99 (2007) 141302 [arXiv:0704.1932] [INSPIRE].
- [134] M. Ishak, Testing General Relativity in Cosmology, Living Rev. Rel. 22 (2019) 1 [arXiv:1806.10122] [INSPIRE].
- [135] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2015 results. Part XIV. Dark energy and modified gravity, Astron. Astrophys. 594 (2016) A14 [arXiv:1502.01590] [INSPIRE].

- [136] P. Brax, Screening Mechanisms, in Modified Gravity and Cosmology, Springer, Cham, Switzerland (2021), pp. 293–298 [DOI:10.1007/978-3-030-83715-0_20] [INSPIRE].
- [137] A. Hojjati, L. Pogosian and G.-B. Zhao, Testing gravity with CAMB and CosmoMC, JCAP 08 (2011) 005 [arXiv:1106.4543] [INSPIRE].
- [138] A. Zucca, L. Pogosian, A. Silvestri and G.-B. Zhao, MGCAMB with massive neutrinos and dynamical dark energy, JCAP 05 (2019) 001 [arXiv:1901.05956] [INSPIRE].
- [139] A. Lewis, A. Challinor and A. Lasenby, Efficient computation of CMB anisotropies in closed FRW models, Astrophys. J. 538 (2000) 473 [astro-ph/9911177] [INSPIRE].
- [140] S. Casas, M. Kunz, M. Martinelli and V. Pettorino, Linear and non-linear Modified Gravity forecasts with future surveys, Phys. Dark Univ. 18 (2017) 73 [arXiv:1703.01271] [INSPIRE].
- [141] DES collaboration, Dark Energy Survey Year 1 Results: Constraints on Extended Cosmological Models from Galaxy Clustering and Weak Lensing, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 123505 [arXiv:1810.02499] [INSPIRE].
- [142] DES collaboration, Probing gravity with the DES-CMASS sample and BOSS spectroscopy, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 509 (2021) 4982 [arXiv:2104.14515] [INSPIRE].
- [143] DES collaboration, Dark Energy Survey Year 3 Results: Constraints on extensions to ΛCDM with weak lensing and galaxy clustering, FERMILAB-PUB-22-470-PPD (2022) [arXiv:2207.05766] [INSPIRE].
- [144] L. Pogosian et al., Imprints of cosmological tensions in reconstructed gravity, Nature Astron. 6 (2022) 1484 [arXiv:2107.12992] [INSPIRE].
- [145] M. Raveri et al., Principal reconstructed modes of dark energy and gravity, arXiv:2107.12990 [INSPIRE].
- [146] G. Tasinato, A. Garoffolo, D. Bertacca and S. Matarrese, Gravitational-wave cosmological distances in scalar-tensor theories of gravity, JCAP 06 (2021) 050 [arXiv:2103.00155] [INSPIRE].
- [147] L. Pogosian and A. Silvestri, What can cosmology tell us about gravity? Constraining Horndeski gravity with Σ and μ , Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 104014 [arXiv:1606.05339] [INSPIRE].